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The tentative ruling will become the Court’s ruling unless by 4:00 p.m. of the court day preceding the 

hearing, counsel or self-represented parties call the department rendering the decision to request 

argument and to specify the issues to be argued.  Calling counsel or self-represented parties 

requesting argument must advise all other affected counsel and self-represented parties by no later 

than 4:00 p.m. of his or her decision to appear and of the issues to be argued.  Failure to timely advise 

the Court and counsel or self-represented parties will preclude any party from arguing the matter. 

 (Local Rule 3.43(2).)  CourtCall will NOT be used by D18.  Zoom is approved for all hearings except 

Issue Conferences and Trials.  Dept. 18’s telephone number is: (925) 608-1118. 

NOTE:  In order to minimize the risk of miscommunication, Dept. 18 prefers and encourages email 

notification to the department of the request to argue and specification of issues to be argued. 

  Dept. 18’s email address is: dept18@contracosta.courts.ca.gov. 

Submission of Orders After Hearing in Department 18 Cases 

The prevailing party must prepare an order after hearing in accordance with CRC 3.1312. The order 

must include appearances.  If the tentative ruling becomes the Court’s ruling, a copy of the Court’s 

tentative ruling must be attached to the proposed order when submitted to the Court for issuance of 

the order. 

 Law & Motion 

 
   

    

1. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  C22-00583 
CASE NAME:  LAURA DAVIES  VS.  ANGELA LEAL 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT  
FILED BY:  ANGELA M. LEAL 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Before the Court is Defendant Angelina M. Leal, individual and as Trustee of the Leal Family 

Revocable Trust (“Defendant” or “Leal”)’s Demurrer. The Demurrer relates to Plaintiff Laura Davies 

(“Plaintiff” or “Davies”)’s First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) for (1) breach of contract; (2) fraud; 

(3) false promise; (4) declaratory relief; (5) promissory estoppel; and (6) intentional interference with 

contract (Leal individually). 

Defendant demurs to Plaintiff’s causes of action for (1) breach of contract, (5) promissory estoppel, 

and (6) intentional interference with contract pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure (“CCP”) § 430.10(e) 

on several grounds. 

For the following reasons, the Demurrer is sustained, without leave to amend. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendant requests judicial notice of several documents from the Northern District of California 
Bankruptcy Court. The unopposed request is granted. (Evid. Code §§ 452, 453.) 

Legal Standard 
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“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” (Holiday 
Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420.) A complaint “is sufficient if it alleges 
ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 550 (“Doe”)), 
but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case “with reasonable precision and 
with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the nature, source and extent” of the 
plaintiff’s claim. (Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 
Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099.) Legal conclusions are insufficient. (Id. at 1098–1099; Doe at 551, fn. 5.) 
The Court “assume[s] the truth of the allegations in the complaint but do[es] not assume the truth of 
contentions, deductions, or conclusions of law.” (California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 
161 Cal.App.4th 242, 247.) 

Factual Background 

This is a real property dispute. Plaintiff was the former owner of record of 1025 Christie Road, 
Martinez, CA 94553 (the “Davies Family Ranch”). (FAC at ¶ 1.) Plaintiff alleges that she sold the Davies 
Family Ranch to Raymond Leal on November 15, 2017. (Id. at ¶ 2.) Raymond Leal died on December 
20, 2019. (Id.) 

Defendant Angeline M. Leal is the trustee of the Leal Family Revocable Trust, which Plaintiff alleges is 
the successor-in-interest to Raymond Leal’s legal ownership of the Davies Family Ranch. (FAC at ¶ 4.) 

Plaintiff alleges that she was in default on several notes on the Davies Family Ranch in late summer 
and fall of 2017. (FAC at ¶ 14.) According to Plaintiff, when Raymond Leal learned of the pending 
foreclosure on the Davies Family Ranch, he proposed that he would purchase the Davies Family Ranch 
for the amount of the notes in default. (Id. at ¶ 16.) Plaintiff alleges that Raymond Leal told her “that 
he would use the Davies Family Ranch to qualify for capital gains tax deferral under Internal Revenue 
Code Section 1031.” (Id.)  

Plaintiff alleges that Raymond Leal “represented that he had no interest in owning Plaintiff’s property 
and that after he bought it, she could stay at it as long as she liked and that she could repurchase it 
for the amount that Leal had to pay to acquire it plus interest on that amount. Davies was responsible 
for paying taxes, insurance and maintaining the Ranch, just as if she was still the legal property 
owner.” (FAC at ¶ 16.) Plaintiff describes this as an “option to repurchase the Property” that would 
expire on her death. (Id. at ¶ 17.) 

Plaintiff alleges that her right to stay on the Property and her right to repurchase the Property were 
deliberately omitted from all the written documents. (FAC at ¶ 24.) She alleges that “the written 
agreements failed to incorporate her right to stay on the property or her right to repurchase the 
property due to concerns that Raymond Leal had that including those agreements in writing would 
possibly jeopardize Leal’s ability to enjoy the tax deferral benefits of a 1031 Exchange.” (Id. at ¶ 25.) 
She further alleges that “[Raymond] Leal had promised that the omitted provisions of the Agreement 
would be set out in writing in the Leal Family Trust.” (Id. at ¶ 26.) 

Plaintiff transferred the property to Raymond J. Leal and Angelina M. Leal, Trustees of the Leal Family 
Revocable Trust on or about October 29, 2018. (FAC at ¶ 32.) In her original complaint, Plaintiff 
alleged that she never made any payments purportedly due under the lease other than a single 
$6,000 payment in the fall of 2019. (Complaint at ¶ 30.) The FAC omits reference to this payment, 
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alleging instead that “[e]xcept for an exchange of communications in late 2018, Raymond Leal never 
requested that Plaintiff make any payment under the Lease. Leal died before he and Plaintiff reached 
agreement on the amount or time when Plaintiff should have made that payment.” (FAC at ¶ 38.) 

On December 26, 2018, Plaintiff entered into a Lease and Easement Agreement with EC&R Solar 
Development LLC. (FAC at ¶ 42.) Under the terms of that contract, Plaintiff leased part of the Davies 
Family Ranch to EC&R for energy storage purposes. (Id.) Plaintiff has received $60,000 under her 
contract with EC&R. (Id.) However, in 2021, EC&R discovered that legal title to the Davies Family 
Ranch was held by Defendant. (Id. at ¶ 43.) According to Plaintiff, Defendant “declined to confirm 
Plaintiff’s authority to enter into the EC&R agreement or ratify that agreement” and consequently an 
affiliate of EC&R has “demanded that Plaintiff either allow EC&R and its affiliates access to the Davies 
Family Ranch or return the $60,000 paid to Plaintiff.” (Id. at ¶¶ 45, 47.) 

Raymond Leal died in December 2019. (FAC at ¶ 33.) In March 2020, Defendant Angelina M. Leal 
caused a sixty-day notice to be served on Plaintiff to vacate the Davies Family Ranch. (Complaint at 
¶ 35.) An unlawful detainer action was filed on March 7, 2022. (FAC at ¶ 37.) 

Analysis 

Defendant demurs to Plaintiff’s causes of action for breach of contract, promissory estoppel and 
intentional interference with contract on the grounds that they are barred by the statute of frauds 
and that the exception to the parol evidence rule does not apply. 

Previously, this Court sustained Defendant’s prior Demurrer to Plaintiff’s cause of action for breach of 
contract and promissory estoppel on the grounds that both the statute of frauds and parol evidence 
rule operated without any exception to bar those claims. The Court also noted that the Complaint did 
not have adequate allegations of equitable estoppel that would preclude the use of a statute of fraud 
defense. With respect to intentional interference with contract (related to the EC&R agreement), this 
Court sustained Defendant’s demur on the grounds that the alleged life estate is barred by the statute 
of frauds and parol evidence rule and that pursuant to the written Lease Plaintiff needed prior written 
approval to sublet or assign any part of the property. (The Court notes that while the original 
complaint pled two separate causes of action for intentional interference with contract, one as 
against Defendant Leal individually and one as against Defendant individually and as Trustee, the FAC 
pleads only a cause of action against Leal individually.) 

As the Court noted prior, the general statute of frauds, Civil Code § 1624(a), an agreement for an 
interest in real property requires a writing signed by the party to be charged. However, equitable 
estoppel may preclude the use of a statute of frauds defense. (Byrne v. Laura (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 
1054, 1068.) Equitable estoppel permits enforcement of an oral agreement to prevent fraud when 
one party has detrimentally relied on an oral promise, or another party has been unjustly enriched. 
(Juran v. Epstien (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 882, 892.) Whether the doctrine of equitable estoppel should 
be applied in a given case is generally a question of fact. (Byrne, supra, at p. 1068.) 

In the FAC, Plaintiff now alleges that she “changed position in reliance on Raymond Leal’s 
representations and would not have entered into the Agreement but for those provisions being, 
included and part of the Agreement.” (FAC at ¶ 22.) What is not clear, however, is how this reliance 
was to her detriment—the judicially noticeable bankruptcy documents show that Davies proposed to 
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sell her property in order to pay off her secured creditors and would not have received any funds 
from the sale. Had Plaintiff not entered into the Agreement the non-judicial foreclosure sale would 
have proceeded and she would have had to vacate the property. By entering the Agreement with 
Raymond Leal, Plaintiff was able to retain possession. This was to her benefit, not detriment.  

Furthermore, Plaintiff’s allegations of partial performance are also unavailing. Again, partial 
performance requires “valuable and substantial improvements on the property” in reliance on the 
oral agreement. (See Sutton v. Warner (1993) 12 Cal.App.4th 415 [“Under the doctrine of part 
performance, the oral agreement for the transfer of an interest in real property is enforced when the 
buyer has taken possession of the property and either makes a full or partial payment of the purchase 
price, or makes valuable and substantial improvements on the property, in reliance on the oral 
agreement.”].) Plaintiff’s conclusory allegation that she “has made substantial payments for 
improvements to and maintenance of the Davies Family Ranch since Leal Family Trust purchased it” 
(FAC at ¶ 36) is insufficient. The FAC lacks any detail regarding the nature and cost of these alleged 
improvements. 

In the absence of either equitable estoppel or fraud, the statute of frauds bars Plaintiff’s claim for a 
life estate. The Demurrer to the causes of action for breach of contract, promissory estoppel and 
intentional interference with contract is sustained, without leave to amend. 

 
 

  

    

2. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  C22-00627 
CASE NAME:  PEARL SEABORN  VS.  ESTATE OF CHARLES LEE SEABORN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO AMEND 3rd Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY:  PEARL M. SEABORN 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Plaintiff’s unopposed motion for leave to file a third amended complaint is granted.  The Court will 
deem the third amended complaint filed as of December 27, 2022. 

 
 

  

    

3. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  C22-01745 
CASE NAME:  ANTHONY ASTONE  VS.  GLOBAL MORTGAGE GROUP 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT  
FILED BY:  PNC BANK, N.A. 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Before the Court is Defendant PNC Bank, N.A.’s Demurrer to Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint 

(“FAC”).  

Background 

For a full review of the factual background of this matter, see the Court’s earlier ruling on the motion 
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to stay this matter.  

Relevant to this second demurrer, Plaintiff Anthony Astone (“Plaintiff”) entered into a purchase and 
sale agreement (“Agreement”) for real property located in Cabo San Lucas, Mexico (“Property”). 
The Agreement stated that Defendant Global Mortgage Group, LLC d/b/a/ MoXi would handle 
the closing of the transaction.  

On or about April 12, 2022 Plaintiff received emails that included wire instructions from what he 
believed to be, and who purported to be, Moxi employees. These instructions were not, in fact, from 
Moxi employees, but were from a fraudulent account acting as Moxi employees. 

Based on these fraudulent emails, Plaintiff wired over $164,000 to PNC Bank. This wire was directed 
to an account bearing account number XXXXXX6897, to the beneficiary Armour Secure Escrow, S. 
de R.L. de C.V. (“Fraudulent Beneficiary”) and with the address Bosques de Radiatas 50 Piso 4, Bosque 
de las Lomas, Cuajimalpa, 05120, Mexico, D.F. This account was not an account for Moxi. Instead, the 
FAC alleges, on information and belief, that “the name of the beneficiary of the wire to PNC Bank was 
different than the name of the actual account holder of the Fraudulent Account.” On information and 
belief, Plaintiff alleges that PNC Bank had actual knowledge of the discrepancy between the name of 
the beneficiary on the wire instruction and the name on the Fraudulent Account. The name and 
address on the Fraudulent Account are alleged to belong to “a nonexistent and/or unidentifiable 
person or account.”  

PNC Bank processed the wire per Plaintiff’s instructions. Plaintiff emailed his Moxi contacts to confirm 
the deposit and received congratulatory responses. Plaintiff was not informed by Moxi that the wire 
transfer had not come through until April 20, 2022. Plaintiff immediately notified law enforcement. 
By that time, the “fraudulent actors had withdrawn the funds and disappeared with no way to reverse 
the wire.”  

Standard for Demurrer 

“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” (Holiday 
Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420.) A complaint “is sufficient if it alleges 
ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 550 (“Doe”)), 
but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case “with reasonable precision and 
with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the nature, source and extent” of the 
plaintiff’s claim. (Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 
Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099.)  

Legal conclusions are insufficient. (Id. at 1098–99; Doe at 551, fn. 5.) The Court “assume[s] the truth 
of the allegations in the complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or 
conclusions of law.” (California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 247.) 
A demurrer lies only for defects appearing on the face of the complaint or from matters of which the 
court must or may take judicial notice. (CCP 430.40; see Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 318.) 
A demurrer may be filed to one of several causes of action in a complaint. (Cal. R. Ct. 3.1320(b).) 
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Analysis 

The Complaint sets forth two causes of action against Defendant PNC Bank: (1) violation of California 

Commercial Code Section 11207, and (2) Constructive/Resulting Trust. Defendant PNC Bank contends 

both causes of action are disallowed and/or preempted under the California Commercial Code.  

Commercial Code Section 11207 

Plaintiff’s first cause of action against Defendant PNC alleges a violation of California Commercial 

Code section 11207. The relevant portions of that Code section read as follows: 

(a) Subject to subdivision (b), if, in a payment order received by the beneficiary’s bank, the name, 

bank account number, or other identification of the beneficiary refers to a nonexistent or 

unidentifiable person or account, no person has rights as a beneficiary of the order and 

acceptance of the order cannot occur. 

(b) If a payment order received by the beneficiary’s bank identifies the beneficiary both by name 

and by an identifying or bank account number and the name and number identify different 

persons, the following rules apply: 

1) Except as otherwise provided in subdivision (c), if the beneficiary’s bank does not 

know that the name and number refer to different persons, it may rely on the 

number as the proper identification of the beneficiary of the order. The beneficiary’s 

bank need not determine whether the name and number refer to the same person. 

2) If the beneficiary’s bank pays the person identified by name or knows that the name 

and number identify different persons, no person has rights as beneficiary except the 

person paid by the beneficiary’s bank if that person was entitled to receive payment 

from the originator of the funds transfer. If no person has rights as beneficiary, 

acceptance of the order cannot occur. 

Here, the “beneficiary bank” is Defendant PNC, while the beneficiary is the account holder at PNC – 

here, alleged to be Armour Secure Escrow, S. de R.L. de C.V. (FAC ¶ 23.)  

Section 11207, subsection (b) “governs payment orders that identify the beneficiary ‘both by name 

and by an identifying account number,’ but a discrepancy exists between the name and account 

number.” (TME Enterprises, Inc. v. Northwest Corp. (2004) 124 Cal.App.4th 1021, 1031.) When there 

is a discrepancy, “subsection (b) provides, in effect, immunity from responsibility – a ‘safe harbor’ – 

for a beneficiary’s bank that relies on the account number specified in a wire transfer order to identify 

the beneficiary of the order.” (Ibid.) “The safe harbor provision applies so long as the bank does not 

know that the beneficiary’s name and account number refer to different persons.” (Ibid.) To ‘know’ 

means to have actual knowledge. (Ibid.; see also Cal. U Com. Code § 1202(b).)  

So, subsection (b) applies when, for example, an originator sends a request to have money sent to 
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account #12345 for Mr. Jones – but account #12345 is registered to Mrs. Smith. In such a situation, 

there is a discrepancy in the request in that it says the money should go to account #12345, but also 

says the money should go to Mr. Jones. If the money goes to account #12345, it will not go to Mr. 

Jones. In such a situation, what is the receiving bank to do? 

According to subsection (b), as long as the beneficiary bank does not know that account #12345 does 

not in fact belong to Mr. Jones, but instead belongs to Mrs. Smith – the beneficiary bank is authorized 

to process the transfer and deposit the money into account #12345. The beneficiary bank is not 

required to compare the account number and name to make sure that account #12345 belongs to 

Mr. Jones. It can just process the transfer to account #12345.  

In the present matter, it is alleged that Plaintiff sent a request to PNC Bank to transfer funds to 

account number XXXXXX6897 and identified the beneficiary of the transfer to be Armour Secure 

Escrow, S. de R.L. de C.V. (an address is listed as well, but that does not appear to be a relevant factor 

in the application of the statute, so will be disregarded for this analysis.) Per the FAC, upon 

information and belief, “the name of the beneficiary for the wire to PNC Bank was different than the 

name of the actual account holder on the Fraudulent Account.” (¶23.) It is also alleged that, upon 

information and belief, “PNC Bank actually knew and had actual knowledge of the discrepancy 

between the name of the beneficiary on the wire instruction and the name on the Fraudulent 

Account.” (Ibid.) It is additionally alleged that the name of the account holder in “Plaintiff’s wire 

instructions to PNC Bank referred to a nonexistent and/or unidentifiable person or account and that 

there is no account holder with PNC Bank with the name Armour Secure Escrow, S. de R.L. de C.V. ….” 

(Ibid.) 

As if often the case, the parties disagree as to the level of specificity required of plaintiff’s knowledge 

and notice pleadings. Defendant PNC argues that such allegations are conclusory and insufficient to 

plead the knowledge requirement.  

The California Supreme Court, however, has recognized that the doctrine of “less particularity” 

sometimes applies to the knowledge and notice pleadings. “This doctrine provides that ‘[l]ess 

particularity [in pleading] is required when it appears that defendant has superior knowledge of the 

facts, so longs as the pleading give notice of the issues sufficient to enable preparation of a defense.’” 

(Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42Cal.4th 531, 550-51 quoting Okun v. Superior Court (1981) 

29 Cal.3d 442, 458.) As the Court explained, a “plaintiff may allege on information and belief any 

matters that are not within his personal knowledge, if he has information leading him to believe that 

the allegations are true.’” (Id. at 550 quoting Pridonoff v. Balokovich (1951) 36 Cal.2d 788, 792.)  

Here, what information Defendant PNC had relating to the account at issue is exclusively within its 

control. Accordingly, Plaintiff’s allegations ‘on information and belief’ meet the minimum 

requirements to put Defendant PNC on notice as to what the claims are – and to adequately prepare 

a defense to those claims.   
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Based on the above, Defendant PNC’s demurrer is overruled.  

  Constructive/Resulting Trust 

As noted by Defendant PNC, Article 4A, i.e. division 11, of the UCC (which covers the claim in this 

matter) “provides that common law causes of action based on allegedly unauthorized funds transfers 

are preempted in two specific areas: (1) where the common law claims would create rights, duties, or 

liabilities inconsistent with division 11; and (2) where the circumstances giving rise to the common 

law claims are specifically covered by the provisions of division 11.” (Zengen, Inc. v. Comerica Bank 

(2007) 41 Cal.4th 239, 253.)  

Plaintiff does not dispute this characterization of the law, but instead argues his claim does not fall 

within the above parameters – and is thus not preempted by the UCC. As noted by Plaintiff, the UCC 

does not “necessarily displace[] all common law actions based on all activities surrounding funds 

transfers.” (Zengen, Inc. 41 Cal.4th at 254.) Instead, common law claims are displaced only where the 

“common law would create rights, duties, or liabilities inconsistent with” those stated in the California 

UCC. (Opp. at 13:8-10 quoting Zengen, Inc. 41 Cal.4th at 253.) 

Plaintiff’s constructive trust cause of action is exclusively based on violations of California Uniform 

Commercial Code section 11207. In addition, neither a constructive trust nor a resulting trust is a 

cause of action, but they are only remedies. (Stansfield v. Starkey (1990) 220 Cal.App.3d 59, 76.) As 

such, Plaintiff’s claim for a constructive/resulting trust is preempted by the UCC.  

Given the above, Defendant PNC Bank’s demur to the sixth cause of action is sustained without leave 

to amend. 

 
 

  

    

4. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  C22-01795 
CASE NAME:  ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH ADVOCATES  VS. ULTA SALON COSMETICS 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT  
FILED BY:  BLACK OPAL, LLC  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Motion moot.  Defendant Black Opal, LLC was dismissed on January 12, 2023. 
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5. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC19-00119 
CASE NAME:  SMITH  VS.  GRACE CHOU, M.D. 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR RECISSION  
FILED BY:  JERRY D, SMITH 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Before the Court is Plaintiff Jerry D. Smith’s “Motion for Rescission.” (“Motion”). 

For the reasons set forth below, the Motion is denied.  

Factual Background  

This matter involves a medical malpractice action wherein Plaintiff Jerry D. Smith (“Plaintiff”) alleges 

that Defendant Grace S. Chou (“Defendant”) was negligent in providing medical care in February 

2018. (Defendant Stanford Health Care was dismissed prior to settlement conference discussed 

below.) On June 21, 2022, the Parties attended a Mandatory Settlement Conference (“MSC”), 

wherein the Parties reached a verbal agreement to resolve the dispute. The general terms of the 

agreement were reduced to writing in a document titled: “Settlement Agreement.” Each of the 

Parties, as well as counsel for Defendant (Plaintiff is unrepresented) signed the Settlement 

Agreement. The Settlement Agreement noted that a “more comprehensive settlement agreement” 

would be prepared and executed by the Parties, and the Plaintiff would file a Notice of Settlement 

with the Court.  

The Notice of Settlement was filed on June 22, 2022. Thereafter, Defendant prepared a more 

comprehensive settlement agreement and sent it to Plaintiff for his signature. Plaintiff never 

responded. Defendant followed up on at least three occasions, never receiving a response from 

Plaintiff. Then, on July 26, 2022, Plaintiff filed an ex parte petition for an order vacating the stay and 

restoring action to civil active list (CRC 3.1385.) The ex parte was set for hearing on October 3, 2022, 

as a regular motion.  

On August 16, 2022, Defendant filed a Motion to Enforce the Settlement Agreement. Both matters 

were heard on October 3, 2022. The Court granted Defendant’s Motion to Enforce the Settlement 

Agreement and denied Plaintiff’s motion to vacate the stay and restore the action to the civil 

active list.  

 Thereafter, on January 31, 2023, Plaintiff filed the instant “Motion for Rescission.” 

Analysis 

Although styled as a Motion for Rescission, what Plaintiff is actually asking the Court to do is 

reconsider its earlier ruling on the Motion to Enforce the Settlement Agreement. The name of the 

motion, however, is not controlling. “The requirements for a motion for reconsideration ‘apply to any 
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motion that asks the judge to decide the same matter previously ruled on.’” (R&B Auto Center, Inc. v. 

Farmers Group, Ins. (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 327, 373 see also Powell v. County of Orange (2011) 197 

Cal.App.4th 1573, 1577.)  

The Court may not entertain a motion for reconsideration absent a showing of new or different facts, 

law, or circumstances. (Code of Civil Procedure (“CCP”) § 1008(a)-(b); Le Francois v. Goel (2005) 35 

Cal.4th 1094, 1098.) “The party making the application shall state by affidavit what application was 

made before, when and to what judge, what order or decisions were made, and what new or 

different facts, circumstances, or law are claimed to be shown.” (CCP § 1008(a).) 

Plaintiff has failed to submit an affidavit or declaration as required by CCP section 1008(a). In 

addition, the Motion itself fails to identify any new facts, law, or circumstances. It appears to merely 

disagree with the earlier order of the Court and seek redress beyond the scope of these proceedings.  

As Plaintiff failed to make the required showing to support a motion for reconsideration, the Motion 
is denied. 

 
 

  

    

6. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC20-01130 
CASE NAME:  VESCE  VS.  CITY OF LAFAYETTE 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL  
FILED BY:  BRIAN J. VESCE 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 

After three rounds of hearings on demurrers, the Court sustained the City of Lafayette’s 

demurrer to the third amended complaint without leave to amend. Plaintiffs have now filed a motion 

for new trial on the following grounds: Code of Civil Procedure section 657: (1) (irregularity in the 

proceedings or abuse of discretion, (4) (newly discovered evidence), and (6) (insufficiency of the 

evidence to justify the verdict). (The notice of motion included two other grounds, but those were not 

briefed in the moving memorandum.)  

Plaintiffs’ main argument is that they were unaware that the City’s Planning and Building 

Director Greg Wolff stated the following in 2019: “I have found nothing in the minutes of the Planning 

Commission's proceedings, the approving resolution or conditions of approval that states that the 

public has a right of access through or over the subject property.” (Rames dec. ex. 2.)  

Section 567(4) allows for a new trial to be granted based on “Newly discovered evidence, 

material for the party making the application, which he could not, with reasonable diligence, have 

discovered and produced at the trial.” “Generally, when a party seeking a new trial knew, or should 

have known, about the pertinent evidence before trial but did not exercise due diligence in producing 

it, the grant of a new trial is error. [Citation.] Nonetheless… a party claiming the discovery of new 

evidence following summary judgment is held to a less demanding standard of reasonable diligence 
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than a party asserting this claim after trial. [Citation.]” (Doe v. United Air Lines, Inc. (2008) 160 

Cal.App.4th 1500, 1509.)  

Here Plaintiffs have not shown that the information that Rames obtained from Wolff in 2019 

could not have been discovered through reasonable diligence. Plaintiffs made a claim to their title 

insurance company regarding the easement at issue in this case. (Vesce dec. ¶4.) Rames was assigned 

to that claim and discussed the issue with Wolff in March and April 2019. (Rames dec. ¶¶6-7.) After 

these communications, Rames believed that the S-3 did not give the public a right of access through 

or over the subject property, but the title insurance company wanted a court order to fully lift the 

cloud on title. (Rames dec. ¶8.) Therefore, the title insurance company retained counsel for Plaintiffs 

regarding this easement. (Rames dec. ¶8; Vesce dec. ¶4.)  

This case was filed on June 23, 2020 and the final demurrer was sustained without leave 

to amend on October 27, 2022. The information obtained from Rames was available to Plaintiffs 

and to Plaintiffs’ counsel since before this case was filed. There is no explanation for why Plaintiffs 

or Plaintiffs’ counsel did not communicate with Rames regarding her discussions with the City 

at any point before October 2022. It was presumably also possible for Plaintiffs or Plaintiffs’ counsel, 

who is being paid by the title insurance company, to ask for whatever notes were available 

regarding communications with the City. The Court finds that Plaintiffs have not shown that the 

information obtained from Rames regarding Wolff’s statements is newly discovered evidence under 

section 657(4).  

In reply, Plaintiffs include further “new evidence” regarding the City’s conduct in 2020, 

including a hearing regarding a proposed settlement between the City and Plaintiffs. This evidence 

is not new as Plaintiffs appear to have known about this conduct since it occurred. (See Vesce 

reply dec.)  

Plaintiffs argue that the City’s failure to disclose Wolff’s email to Rames constitutes an 

irregularity in the proceedings under section 657(1). Subsection 657(1) applies to “Irregularity in the 

proceedings of the court, jury or adverse party, or any order of the court or abuse of discretion by 

which either party was prevented from having a fair trial.” 

Plaintiffs argue that the City committed misconduct by misleading the Court regarding the 

City’s position as to the S-3 condition and that the City falsely represented to the Court that Plaintiff’s 

needed to file a writ of mandate because “the S-3 Access Condition grants members of the general 

public access to the Dips” and that excluding the general public from using the Dips would 

“necessarily invalidate the S-3 Access Condition.” The Court has reviewed the Rames’ declaration and 

the email exchange with Wolff. While there does appear to be more ambiguity regarding Wolff’s 

statements than previously disclosed to the Court, the Court does not find misconduct by the City. 

There are multiple ways to interpret Wolff’s statements and the City had no way of knowing that its 

statements to Rames were not in Plaintiffs’ possession throughout this lawsuit. Furthermore, the City 



SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
MARTINEZ, CA 

DEPARTMENT 18 
JUDICIAL OFFICER: DANIELLE K DOUGLAS 

HEARING DATE:  03/06/2023 
 

 

12 

 

was entitled to argue that a writ proceeding was appropriate here.  

In Sherman v. Kinetic Concepts, Inc. (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 1152, 1162 the court found that a 

new trial motion should have been granted based on newly discovered evidence and also noted that 

the moving party was also entitled to a new trial on the ground of irregularity in the proceedings 

preventing them from obtaining a fair trial. (Id. at fn. 5) Sherman was a product liability case where 

the defendant was asked for certain documents in discovery and failed to provide them. Those 

documents showed that there were significantly more complaints about the alleged defective product 

than had been disclosed by the defendant. Here, by contrast, there is no evidence that Plaintiffs 

asked the City for all communications with Wolff or sought to depose Wolff.  

In Jackson v. Park (2021) 66 Cal.App.5th 1196 the court of appeal affirmed the trial court’s 

granting of a motion for new trial based on attorney misconduct was proper. There, the trial attorney 

argued that there was no evidence of a particular fact to the jury when the trial court has previously 

ruled that evidence of that fact was inadmissible at trial. The trial attorney also repeatedly argued 

about facts outside the evidence presented at trial despite the trial court instructing the attorney not 

to do so. Jackson is not applicable here.  

Plaintiffs also argue that the motion for new trial should be granted based on new evidence 

(section 657(4)) and insufficiency of the evidence (section 657(6)) because Plaintiffs “are not 

challenging the S-3 [condition] since the City’s Planning Director correctly determined that the 

Planning Commission Minutes, the City’s Resolution, the Conditions of Approval and the Parcel Map 

do not show that S-3 gave the public any access rights over the Property.” 

In addition to the information obtained from the communications between Rames and Wolff, 

Plaintiffs also point to the minutes from the Planning Commission hearings in 2000. (Chien dec. ex. 1 

and 2.) For the same reasons discussed above, the argument based on new evidence fails because 

there was not showing that this evidence could not have been discovered through reasonable 

diligence either prior to this lawsuit or sometime over the two years this lawsuit was active.  

The last ground raised by Plaintiffs is that there is an insufficiency of evidence to support the 

verdict because Plaintiffs are not challenging the S-3 condition and thus, were not required to file a 

writ. Plaintiffs argue that the Planning Commission minutes do not show that the S-3 condition was 

meant to change the existing easements rather than ensuring they would continue to exist after the 

reconfiguration. Plaintiffs argue that the recorded parcel map shows every easement on the Property, 

including the beneficiary of each easement in the top left corner of the map, and that the public is not 

listed as a beneficiary to any of the easements and also that none of the easements goes from Glen 

Road to Happy Valley Road. (Chien dec. ex. 4.)  

The resolution approving the subdivision map included the S-3 condition that states 

“The private right-of-way easement shall be left open for pedestrian access between Happy Valley 
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Road and Glen Road.” The City argues that there is evidence to support a finding that the Planning 

Commission intended to preserve the public’s access to the easement.  

The City also points the Planning Commission minutes that describe the properties as: 

One of the parcels is the site of the applicant’s home and the other is a parcel 

containing a driveway, which extends from Happy Valley Road to Glen Road, and 

provides access to the applicant's home, and one other adjacent parcel to the south. 

There is a foot path over a culvert which crosses the creek. The remainder of the 

parcel extends to Glen Road and provides access to several other homes. The 

property on the west side of the creek with the residence zoned R-40 and the 

property on the east side of the creek, which is a portion of the access road, is zoned 

R-10. The map indicates it includes an access easement from Happy Valley Road to 

the applicant’s home and one other adjacent parcel to the south. 

(Chien dec. ex. 1 p. 10.)  

On the parcel map, it shows an easement running from Happy Valley Road to Happy Valley 

Glen Road. (Chien dec. ex. 4.) This is consistent with the minutes from the Planning Commission that 

describe an easement and note there is a foot path over a culvert which crosses the creek. The map 

also lists various property owners with right of way and utilities easements in the upper left corner.  

The City points to the following finding from the resolution approving the parcel map: 

“The design of the subdivision or the type of improvements will not conflict with easements, 

acquired by the public at large, for access through or use of property within the proposed subdivision. 

An easement Chart on the Vesting Tentative Map lists the existing right-of-way and utility easements 

on the property.” (Chien dec. ex. 3: Resolution 4(g).)  

The Court considers the evidence provided by Plaintiffs, including the Planning Commission 

minutes and the Rames declaration, as additional facts that Plaintiffs could allege in their complaint. 

When considering these additional facts, the question for the Court is whether the demurrer to the 

third amended complaint should have been sustained with leave to amend. The Court finds that leave 

to amend is not required by these new facts. The new facts do not fundamentally change the Court’s 

analysis that Plaintiffs are seeking to attack or challenge the S-3 condition, which was a requirement 

as part of the subdivision map approval, and as such were required to file this lawsuit within 90 days 

of their knowledge of the City’s interpretation of the S-3 condition.  

Therefore, the Court finds that sustaining the demurrer without leave to amend was 

appropriate and was supported by sufficient evidence.  

Finally, Plaintiffs argue that leave to amend should be liberally granted. This argument is not 
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linked one of the statutory grounds for granting a new trial and is denied.  

Therefore, the Court denies Plaintiffs’ motion for a new trial. 

 
 

  

    

7. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC20-01330 
CASE NAME:  VERONICA HURTADO  VS.  IRENE RODRIGUEZ 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT  
FILED BY:  SUTTER HEALTH 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Continued by the Court to 9:00 a.m. on March 27, 2023. 
 

 

  

    

8. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC20-01330 
CASE NAME:  VERONICA HURTADO VS.  IRENE RODRIGUEZ 
 HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT  
FILED BY:  IRENE RODRIGUEZ 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Continued by the Court to 9:00 a.m. on March 27, 2023. 
 

 

  

    

9. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-00312 
CASE NAME:  ZUNIGA  VS.  HERNANDEZ 
HEARING ON MOTION TO ENFORCE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT & REQUEST SANCTIONS  
FILED BY:  MAURICIO ZUNIGA AND ROCSANA ZUNIGA 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Plaintiff’s motion to enforce the settlement agreement is granted as follows. The Court orders 
Defendant Keith Hernandez and Raul Hernandez to sign the purchase agreement and gift letter 
within five days of the March 6, 2023. If Defendant’s fail to sign all necessary documents, Plaintiff may 
petition the Court ex parte to authorize the court of the court to sign as elisor. The Court orders 
Defendant Keith Hernandez and Raul Hernandez to cooperate with the close of escrow until the 
transfer of title and ownership is complete. Plaintiff’s request for an order to buydown Plaintiff’s 
interest rate equal to one point and/or one percentage point applicable towards Plaintiff’s home 
mortgage is denied as the request is outside the Court’s authority to enforce the settlement pursuant 
to Code of Civil Procedure section 664.6. Plaintiff’s request for sanctions pursuant to Code of Civil 
Procedure section 128.5 is denied. Code of Civil Procedure section 128.5 sets out procedures for 
requesting sanctions. Plaintiff’s motion for sanctions pursuant to section 128.5 of Code of Civil 
Procedure did not adhere to the procedures required by section 128.5 of Code of Civil Procedure. 
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10. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-00777 
CASE NAME:  COMFY HEATING & AIR CONDITIONING  VS.  KALRA 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO CROSS-COMPLAINT 
FILED BY:  COMFY HEATING & AIR CONDITIONING INC. 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
 Cross-defendant’s demurrer is overruled as to the Second Cause of Action and is sustained 

with leave to amend as to the remaining causes of action that are the subject of the demurrer.  

Cross-complainant shall file any amended cross-complaint on or before April 5, 2023.  Cross-

complainant is encouraged to consider whether all of the causes of action as to which the demurrer 

has been sustained are genuinely necessary for cross-complainant to obtain complete relief.  

The basis for this ruling is as follows. 

 2nd C/A.  The Second Cause of Action is for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and 

fair dealing.  The Court overrules cross-defendant’s demurrer to this cause of action, for two reasons. 

 First, case law recognizes that there is an implied contractual covenant to perform the terms 

of a contract with due care.  (See Holguin v. Dish Network LLC (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 1310, 1323-24.)  

Second, the distinction between the breach of an express contract term and the breach of the implied 

covenant not to frustrate the purpose of an express contract term is often a subtle one, and the Court 

finds that in the case at bar the distinction is not suitable for resolution by demurrer. 

This ruling is subject to a caveat, however.  The Court is aware of the limits of the implied 

covenant theory, and the Court will be alert to those limits in future proceedings.  (See, e.g., Thrifty 

Payless, Inc. v. Mariners Mile Gateway, LLC (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 1050, 1061-62 [the implied 

covenant cannot contradict express contract terms]; Racine & Laramie, Ltd. v. Department of Parks & 

Recreation (1992) 11 Cal.App.4th 1026, 1031-32 [the implied covenant does not impose a duty to 

negotiate a new contract].) 

 4th, 7th, and 8th C/As.  The Fourth Cause of Action is for professional negligence.  The Seventh 

and Eighth Causes of Action also sound in negligence, and it is not clear how they differ materially 

from the Fourth Cause of Action. 

 The Court sustains cross-defendant’s demurrer because, as currently pleaded, these causes of 

action are barred by the economic loss rule.  (See Sheen v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (2022) 12 Cal.5th 

905, 922 [“[i]n general, there is no recovery in tort for negligently inflicted ‘purely economic losses,’ 

meaning financial harm unaccompanied by physical or property damage”].)  The allegations cited by 

cross-complainant in the opposition memorandum do not allege any form of personal injury 

or property damage; in those allegations, cross-complainant seeks the cost of replacing his current 

heating and air conditioning system.  (Cross-Complaint, ¶¶ 22, 29, 51, 67, and 72.) 

The cases cited by cross-complainant on this point are distinguishable.  The Holguin decision 
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held that there was an implied contractual duty to perform with due care, not an implied tort duty.  

(See Holguin, supra, 229 Cal.App.4th at 1323-24.)  Further, in Holguin, there were both personal 

injuries and property damage.  (Id., at 1315 [damaged pipe leaked sewer water causing mold buildup 

and resulting health issues].) 

The Jackson, Seo, and Ott decisions dealt with when a “special relationship” may arise from 

a contractual duty, and cross-complainant has not alleged a special relationship in the case at bar.  

(See Jackson v. AEG Live, LLC (2015) 233 Cal.App.4th 1156, 1177; Seo v. All-Makes Overhead Doors 

(2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 1193, 1202-04; Ott v. Alfa-Laval Agri, Inc. (1995) 31 Cal.App.4th 1439, 1448.)  

The Willdan decision did not address the economic loss rule, and in any event was decided before 

more recent California Supreme Court decisions emphasizing the importance of the economic loss 

rule, including most recently the Sheen decision cited above.  (See Willdan v. Sialic Contractors Corp. 

(2007) 158 Cal.App.4th 47, 58.  See also ProPortion Foods, LLC v. Master Prot., LP (C.D.Cal. Sep. 25, 

2019, No. 2:19-cv-01768-R-AGR) 2019 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 228536, at *6-7; Tesoro Ref. & Mktg. Co. LLC v. 

Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. (N.D.Cal. Aug. 29, 2014, No. 14-cv-00930-JCS) 2014 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 121399, at *15 

[the Willdan decision is limited to subcontractors who are not in contractual privity with owner].) 

 5th C/A.  The Fifth Cause of Action is for an alleged violation of the California Building Code.  

The Court sustains cross-defendant’s demurrer because cross-complainant has confusingly alleged 

facts supporting both the absence of and the existence of such a violation.  (See Cross-Complaint, 

¶¶ 54-56.)  The Court makes no ruling on the issue of whether a violation of the California Building 

Code supports a private right of action, because the issue has not been briefed; cross-defendant is 

free to raise that issue in the context of a future challenge to the pleading of the cross-complaint. 

 9th and 10th C/As.  The Ninth Cause of Action is for violation of the Unfair Competition Law, 

and the Tenth Cause of Action is for violation of the False Advertising Law.  The Court sustains cross-

defendant’s demurrer on three grounds. 

 First, the cross-complaint fails to clearly articulate in what respect the representations on 

cross-defendant’s website were factually incorrect.  Thus, while the website recites that cross-

defendant’s technicians “are EPA and NATE-certified,” cross-complainant does not specifically allege 

that the technicians who worked on his home were not so certified.  (Cross-Complaint, ¶ 9(c).)  

The mere fact that a given heating and air conditioning system failed to perform properly does not 

mean that the website’s general representations concerning cross-defendant’s efforts to ensure 

quality were factually incorrect; if cross-complainant is asserting that making mistakes during the 

performance of a contract is equivalent to unfair competition, that theory is not viable. 

 The Court reserves for future consideration whether some or all of the alleged 

representations on cross-defendant’s website were non-actionable “puffery.”  The Court’s 

preliminary, nonbinding assessment is that many of these representations are non-actionable: e.g., 

“[y]our comfort is our number one concern …”  (Cross-Complaint, ¶ 9(a).) 

 The second basis for sustaining the demurrer is that cross-complainant has not alleged the 
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right to an authorized statutory remedy.  Cross-complainant seeks injunctive relief on behalf of an 

unidentified class of consumers, but has not complied with class action procedures.  (Bus. & Prof. 

Code, § 17203 [“[a]ny person may pursue representative claims or relief on behalf of others only if 

the claimant meets the standing requirements of Section 17204 and complies with Section 382 of the 

Code of Civil Procedure”].)  Cross-complainant also seeks “Cross-Defendant’s revenues associated 

with its unfair competition,” but the California Supreme Court has held that this is not an authorized 

remedy.  (Cross-Complaint, ¶ 84.  See Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 

1134, 1150-51 [“[t]he nonrestitutionary disgorgement remedy sought by plaintiff closely resembles a 

claim for damages, something that is not permitted under the UCL”].) 

 The third basis for sustaining the demurrer is that the Ninth and Tenth Causes of Action 
would appear to be duplicative.  Cross-complainant alleges violations of section 17500 of the Business 
and Professions Code in the Ninth Cause of Action, so it is not clear why the Tenth Cause of Action, 
based on those same violations, is necessary. 

 
 

  

    

11. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-01609 
CASE NAME:  SHAHIN SHOJAEYAN  VS.  ALICIA JOY BISBEE 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE    
FILED BY:  ARIA SHOJAEYAN 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
The Court approves minor’s compromise. 

 
 

  

    

12. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-01762 
CASE NAME:  BALOG  VS.  MURRAY 
HEARING ON MOTION REQUIRING PLAINTIFF TO FURNSIH BOND  
FILED BY:  DEFENDANTS  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Motion moot.  Parties filed notice of conditional settlement on November 18, 2022. 
 

 

  

    

13. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-02198 
CASE NAME:  McCARTY  VS.  SFS 39 INC. 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION  
FILED BY:  KIMBERLY MCCARTY 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Before the Court is a motion for reconsideration of the Court's November 28, 2022 ruling granting 
Defendant's petition to compel arbitration in part and staying the action until May 1, 2023. For the 
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reasons set forth, the Court grants the motion for reconsideration. Having reconsidered its November 
28, 2022 Order, the Court orders that: (a) the Court's November 28, 2022 is modified, as stated 
herein; (b) all claims subject to Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint are ordered to arbitration, subject 
to the arbitrator's determination of whether the "representative" PAGA claims are within the scope 
of arbitration under the parties' arbitration agreement; and (c) the action shall remain stayed until 
May 1, 2023, or such later date as the Court may subsequently order, pursuant to the terms of the 
Court's November 28, 2022 Order.  

Background 

On December 27, 2021, Plaintiff filed a First Amended Complaint against her former employer, 
defendant SFS 39, alleging a single cause of action under the Private Attorney General Act, Labor 
Code section 2698 et seq. ("PAGA") for various Labor Code violations. Defendant SFS 39 filed a motion 
to compel arbitration of Plaintiff's PAGA claims after the United States Supreme Court decided Viking 
River Cruises, Inc. v. Moriano (2022) 142 S.Ct. 1906, reh. den. (August 22, 2022) ___U.S.___, 2022 U.S. 
LEXIS 3346 at *1.) ("Viking").  

The hearing on the motion was originally set for October 3, 2022 and was continued at the parties' 
request to November 28, 2022. Pursuant to the Court's rules and practices, the Court posted its 
tentative ruling on the motion prior to the hearing, neither party contested the tentative, and the 
tentative ruling became the order of the Court, as reflected in the Court's November 28, 2022 Minute 
Order. (See Szamet Decl. ¶¶ 4-10.) No written notice of the entry of the Minute Order was served 
until Plaintiff served a notice on December 21, 2022. (Szamet Decl. ¶¶ 11-15.)  

The November 28, 2022 Minute Order (a) granted the motion to compel arbitration in part, by 
ordering to arbitration Plaintiff's "individual" PAGA claims, as defined in Viking and in that ruling; (b) 
denying Defendant's motion to the extent it requested that Plaintiff's "representative" PAGA claims, 
as defined in Viking and in the ruling, be dismissed; and (c) staying the action in this Court until May 1, 
2023.  

November 28, 2022 was the Monday following the long Thanksgiving holiday weekend. On November 
23, 2022, the Wednesday before Thanksgiving, the United States District Court for the Central District 
of California issued its decision in Diaz v. Macy's West Stores, Inc. (C. D. Cal. Nov. 23, 2022), No. CV 19-
00303 PSG (MAAx), 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 212825 at *1 ("Diaz"). On December 5, 2022, a week after 
the Court's Minute Order, the Court of Appeal for the Second Appellate District issued its decision in 
Lewis v. Simplified Lab. Staffing Sols., Inc. (2022) 85 Cal. App. 5th 983 ("Simplified Staffing"). (Pl. 
Notice of Errata Exh. A and RJN ISO Mot. Exhs. 1 and 2.)  

Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration is based on these new authorities not available to the Court 
when it decided Defendant's arbitration motion. At issue is whether Plaintiff's "representative" PAGA 
claims should also be ordered to arbitration so that the arbitrator can determine whether those 
claims are within the scope of the parties' arbitration agreement, in light of these new case 
authorities.  

Analysis 

A. The Motion Is Timely 
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Code of Civil Procedure section 1008(a) requires a motion for reconsideration to be filed "within 10 
days after service upon the party of written notice of entry of the order." (Code Civ. Proc. § 1008(a).) 
Plaintiff's counsel filed and served a notice of the November 28, 2022 Minute Order on December 21, 
2022, and she filed the motion for reconsideration the following day, clearly within 10 days of the 
notice.  

Defendant contends the motion is untimely as it was filed more than 10 days after Plaintiff's counsel 
had actual notice of the Court's ruling based on the November 28, 2022 posted tentative ruling, which 
became the order of the Court when it was not timely contested by the parties. The argument is 
inconsistent with the plain language of the statute as well as the history of the statutory language 
which changed the language from "knowledge" of the order to its current provision marking the time 
from the date of written notice of entry of the order. (See Guedalia v. Superior Court (1989) 211 
Cal.App.3d 1156, 1164-1165 [interpreting prior language that required the motion to be filed within 
10 days "after knowledge of the order" as based on actual notice of the order by the party affected]; 
1992 Cal SB 1805 Section 4 [amending Code Civ. Proc. § 1008(a), among other provisions].)  

B. The Motion Complies with the Statute 

A motion for reconsideration must be "based upon new or different facts, circumstances, or law." 
(Code Civ. Proc. § 1008(a).) The Diaz decision and the Simplified Staffing decision in particular, issued 
approximately one week after the November 28, 2022 hearing and Minute Order, clearly qualify as 
new law not available to the Court at the time the motion to compel arbitration was decided. The 
motion is supported by a declaration of Plaintiff's counsel, and on December 27, 2022, within the 10-
day period after the notice of entry was served, Plaintiff filed a Notice of Errata with her Request for 
Judicial Notice attaching the Diaz and Simplified Staffing decisions. Defendant in its opposition notes 
that Plaintiff had filed a notice with the Court on December 7, 2022 advising the Court of the two new 
decisions. The motion and affidavit describe the motion to compel arbitration, the decision made, and 
the basis of the motion as new law. (Code Civ. Proc. § 1008(a).) Further, as Plaintiff points out, the 
Court may reconsider its ruling on its own motion at any time based on a change in law that may 
warrant entry of a different order. (Code Civ. Proc. § 1008(c).) 

The Court grants the motion to reconsider its prior ruling. The Court will re-evaluate the ruling on the 
motion to compel arbitration in light of the new decisional law cited by Plaintiff.  

C. The Court Is Bound to Follow Simplified Staffing and Will Modify Its November 28, 2022 
Ruling Based on That Decision 

As a preliminary matter, the Court agrees with Defendant that the Diaz decision is not binding on this 
Court and is at best persuasive authority. Because the Simplified Staffing decision is binding and 
dictates a modification of the Court's prior ruling, this ruling focuses only on that decision. 

In the initial months following the Viking decision, trial courts had little guidance from higher courts in 
how to apply Viking, and its implications on the arbitrability of PAGA claims and on prior California 
case law. Simplified Staffing is one of the first published decisions addressing some of the 
unanswered questions posed by Viking. This Court is bound to follow the Simplified Staffing decision. 
(Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455 ["Decisions of every division of the 
District Courts of Appeal are binding upon all the justice and municipal courts and upon all the 
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superior courts of this state, and this is so whether or not the superior court is acting as a trial or 
appellate court."].)  

1. The Court's November 28, 2022 Order and the Simplified Staffing Decision 

As set forth in the November 28, 2022 Order, Plaintiff argued in opposition to the motion to compel 
arbitration that if Plaintiff's "individual" PAGA claims were ordered to arbitration, her 
"representative" PAGA claims should also be ordered to arbitration because the claims cannot be 
"bifurcated." This Court rejected that argument based on the holding in Viking and the severability 
provisions of the arbitration agreement, attached as Exhibit A to the Serafino Declaration filed July 29, 
2022 in support of Defendant's motion. The Court concluded that the Viking decision provides for 
bifurcation of PAGA claims into individual PAGA claims and representative PAGA claims. The Court's 
holding in Viking cleaved the individual PAGA claims and ordered those claims to arbitration. The 
November 28, 2022 followed the Viking ruling in that regard by ordering Plaintiff's individual PAGA 
claims to arbitration. 

This Court also held that the "representative" PAGA claims could not be legally ordered to arbitration 
based on a line of California Court of Appeal decisions holding that PAGA claims cannot be ordered to 
arbitration because the State is not a party to the employee's pre-dispute arbitration agreement and 
has not consented to arbitration. (See November 28, 2022 Order, citing Herrera v. Doctors Medical 
Center of Modesto, Inc. (2021) 67 Cal.App.5th 538, 548-550; Julian v. Glenair, Inc. (2017) 17 
Cal.App.5th 853, 869-871; Betancourt v. Prudential Overall Supply (2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 439, 445 
("Herrera/Betancourt Line" for convenience.)  

The Court in Simplified Staffing has now addressed the implications of Viking on the 
Herrera/Betancourt Line of decisions. (Simplified Staffing, supra, 85 Cal.App.5th at 991 and fn. 5 and 
996.) The Court in Simplified Staffing concluded that the holding in Viking compelling individual PAGA 
claims to be arbitrated undermines the basis for the holdings in the Herrera/Betancourt Line 
precluding representative PAGA claims from being arbitrated which was founded in turn on analysis 
in Iskanian v. CLS Transp. Los Angeles, LLC (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348 ("Iskanian") rejected by the United 
States Supreme Court in Viking. (Simplified Staffing, supra, 85 Cal.App.5th at 995.) "To reach this 
conclusion [that the FAA applies to PAGA claims], the Viking River court specifically rejected Iskanian's 
characterization of a PAGA action as ' "not a dispute between an employer and an employee arising 
out of their contractual relationship but a dispute between an employer and the state." ' [Citation 
omitted.]" (Id. at 994-995 [emphasis added].)  

Based on the Viking holding and the preemption of the FAA, the Court concluded the "State-must-
consent rule" adopted in the Herrera/Betancourt Line is no longer viable. (Id. at 996-1000.) The 
Simplified Staffing decision holds that "[b]eyond preemption, Viking River's reasoning destroys the 
foundation of the State-must-consent rule, and even if it did not, it would be preempted by the FAA. 
(Id. at 996-1000.) The decision thus directly holds that based on Viking and its FAA preemption 
analysis, the basis for the Herrera/Betancourt Line of decisions that representative or nonindividual 
PAGA claims are barred from being arbitrated no longer exists, and that those claims can be ordered 
to arbitration.  

The Court in Simplified Staffing then considered whether the Court or the arbitrator should determine 
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the scope of the claims subject to arbitration, and specifically whether the nonindividual PAGA claims 
were within the scope of the artbitrable claims subject to the parties' arbitration agreement. The 
Court relied on the AAA arbitration rules incorporated into the arbitration agreement in that case in 
determining whether the Court or the arbitrator should make that decision, not any express 
delegation provision in the arbitration agreement itself. Relying on the provisions of the incorporated 
arbitration rules, the Court held that the arbitrator must decide "the scope of the claims subject to 
arbitration," including whether the arbitration agreement encompassed the representative PAGA 
claims. (Id. at 1000.)  

2. Application to the November 28, 2022 Order 

Simplified Staffing requires the Court to modify its November 28, 2022 ruling to the extent it 
determined Plaintiff's representative PAGA claims cannot legally be ordered to arbitration, because 
that decision holds post-Viking, they can be ordered to arbitration legally if the representative PAGA 
claims are within the scope of claims subject to arbitration under the arbitration agreement. Because 
arbitration of representative PAGA claims is not barred legally based on the holding in Simplified 
Staffing, the Court must then determine whether the Court or the arbitrator decides whether the 
representative claims are within the scope of the arbitration agreement.  

The parties do not dispute that the arbitration agreement in this case, Exhibit A to the Serafino 
Declaration filed July 29, 2022, incorporates the ADR Services, Inc. Arbitration Rules. Those rules 
provide in pertinent part: 

1. Agreement of the Parties. The parties shall be deemed to have 
made these rules a part of their arbitration agreement whenever 
their arbitration contract provides for arbitration before ADR 
Services, Inc. (hereafter “ADR Services”), or whenever the parties 
have otherwise agreed to the applicability of these rules. The Rules, 
and any amendment thereof, which shall apply to the arbitration will 
be those in effect at the time the demand for arbitration, submission 
agreement or court order is received by ADR Services. 

. . . 

8. Jurisdiction. Unless the issue of arbitrability has been previously 
determined by the court, the arbitrator shall have the power to rule 
on his or her own jurisdiction, including any objections with respect 
to the existence, scope or validity of the arbitration agreement. 

(http://www.adrservices.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/ADR-ARBITRATION-RULES-FINAL-1-29-
21.pdf  obtained 3/1/2023 [emphasis added].) 

Defendant highlights the underscored limitation on the arbitrator's power to determine the 
arbitrator's jurisdiction and scope of the arbitration agreement. The Court did previously determine 
the representative PAGA claims were not arbitrable in its November 28, 2022 Order, but it did so 
based on pre-Viking authority now determined by the Court of Appeal in Simplified Staffing in effect 
to be abrogated by the Viking decision and FAA preemption, such that there no legal bar precluding 

http://www.adrservices.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/ADR-ARBITRATION-RULES-FINAL-1-29-21.pdf
http://www.adrservices.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/ADR-ARBITRATION-RULES-FINAL-1-29-21.pdf
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those claims from being ordered to arbitration. The Court has now reconsidered and changed its 
earlier determination in this ruling, concluding there is no legal bar to ordering the representative 
claims to arbitration subject to the determination of whether those claims are within the scope of the 
arbitration agreement.  

Defendant also argues Plaintiff could have argued that the arbitrator should determine whether the 
representative PAGA claims were arbitrable. Plaintiff argued that if the Court ordered the individual 
PAGA claims to arbitration, the Court should have also ordered the representative PAGA claims to 
arbitration. The Court rejected the argument based on the Herrera/Betancourt Line discussed above, 
a determination that the Court now properly revisits and modifies based on the new law reflected in 
the Simplified Staffing decision.  

Defendant also argues the Court already considered whether there was consent by the parties to 
arbitrate the representative PAGA claims, referring to a portion of the November 28, 2022 ruling in 
which the Court pointed to two United States Supreme Court decisions involving class actions which 
reiterate the general principle applicable to all arbitrations; namely, that arbitration is a matter of 
consent. The statement was not a determination of whether the parties had in fact consented to 
arbitrate representative PAGA claims, because the Court determined it could not legally order the 
representative claims to arbitration under the Herrera/Betancourt Line of decisions. To the extent the 
November 28, 2022 could be interpreted as making such a determination, reconsideration and 
modification of such a ruling is warranted based on Simplified Staffing for the reasons stated herein. 

Based on the holding in Simplified Staffing and the terms of the ADR Rules incorporated into the 
arbitration agreement in this case, it is up to the arbitrator to determine the scope of the claims 
subject to arbitration under the arbitration agreement, and specifically whether the representative 
PAGA claims are within its scope. The Court therefore modifies its November 28, 2022 ruling as set 
forth herein.  

Plaintiff's Request for Judicial Notice 

The Court is bound to follow the decisional law of the Courts of Appeal in California, but in any event, 
the Court grants Plaintiff's unopposed request to take judicial notice of the existence of the Diaz and 
Simplified Staffing decisions under Evidence Code section 452(a). 

 
 

  

    

14. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC22-00100 
CASE NAME:  RIDEAU  VS.  GHC OF CONTRA COSTA, ET AL. 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT  
FILED BY:  ANN NGUYEN-TRAXLER, MD 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Defendant Ann Nguyen-Traxler, M.D.’s Demurrer to the First Amended Complaint of Plaintiff Dwayne 
Rideau, by and through his successor-in-interest Marlene Rideau, and Marlene Rideau, individually, 
is overruled in part and sustained in part with leave to amend. The companion Motion to Strike 
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is granted with leave to amend. 

Plaintiff shall have 30 days from the date of this order in which to amend her complaint. Defendant 
Nguyen-Traxler shall have 30 days from service of the amended complaint in which to respond.  

Allegations of the First Amended Complaint 

This case arises out of injuries allegedly suffered by Dwayne Rideau ("decedent") at Bayberry Skilled 

Nursing and Healthcare Center (“Bayberry Nursing”), a licensed skilled nursing facility. Plaintiff 

Marlene Rideau is the Decedent’s successor in interest. Defendants are CHC of Contra Costa LLC, Life 

Generations Healthcare and Ann Nguyen-Traxler, M.D.  

 Plaintiff alleges that decedent was over the age of 65 at the time of the events in the operative First 

Amended Complaint was admitted to Bayberry Nursing in 2013 after suffering a stroke. Plaintiffs 

allege that from January 4, 2019 through January 14, 2021, decedent became malnourished, 

dehydrated, and developed a tumor in his abdomen that spread throughout his abdomen and into his 

throat. During this time a specialist physician repeatedly contacted Bayberry Nursing to arrange an 

office visit or telemedicine consultation for decedent, but Defendants allegedly never responded to 

the physician. At a care meeting in September 2020, decedent’s family learned that Decedent had lost 

40 pounds since March 2020. When decedent’s family asked the facility’s representative about the 

weight loss, the representative stated that decedent was depressed due to restrictions on family visits 

that were in place at that time. Family could see through the window of decedent’s room that 

decedent was doing poorly and made continued requests to Bayberry Nursing to have doctors 

evaluate decedent to determine the medical cause of his weight loss. No one allegedly evaluated 

decedent and the cause of his weight loss was not diagnosed.  

In early January 2021 Dr. Nguyen-Traxler called to tell Plaintiff that decedent was not doing well. 

By this time, decedent could no longer talk and was too weak to lift his arms. The following day, 

decedent was taken to the hospital emergency department where he was found to be malnourished 

and severely dehydrated, and a cancerous mass was detected in his abdomen. Family observed that 

decedent’s finger and toenails had grown so long “they looked like talons and were curled over.” The 

family learned that decedent’s cancer had spread throughout his abdomen and into his throat, and 

there were no longer treatment options. Decedent passed away on January 14, 2021. Plaintiff alleges 

that throughout decedent’s stay at Bayberry Nursing, Defendants knew the facility was chronically 

understaffed and could not meet the care needs of its residents. Plaintiff alleges the corporate 

defendants and managing agents did not adjust staffing levels to maximize profit. Plaintiff alleges that 

during decedent’s stay, Bayberry Nursing lacked competent staff to assess, monitor and treat its 

residents, which is how Decedent was allowed to lose 80 pounds in six months, become malnourished 

and dehydrated, and develop a terminal abdominal tumor without appropriate intervention to 

diagnose or treat this sudden illness. (FAC, ¶¶ 15-21.)  

Plaintiff asserts causes of action against Dr. Nguyen-Traxler for (1) wrongful death; (2) elder abuse; 
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and (3) “neglect.” (Plaintiff clarifies in opposition to the motion that this cause of action is for 

negligence for the recovery of damages for pain and suffering by a decedent’s successor in interest 

following the death of the decedent, per AB 447, which amended CCP section 377.34.) 

Legal Standards 

“It is black letter law that a demurrer tests the legal sufficiency of the allegations in a complaint.” 

(Lewis v. Safeway, Inc. (2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 385, 388.) Therefore, it lies only where the defects 

appear on the face of the pleading or are judicially noticed. (SKF Farms v. Superior Court (1984) 

153 Cal.App.3d 902, 905.) In ruling on a demurrer, the court must “liberally construe” the allegations 

of the complaint. (CCP § 452.)  

Demurrers for uncertainty are disfavored. A demurrer for uncertainty is strictly construed, even 

where a complaint is in some respects uncertain, because ambiguities can be clarified under modern 

discovery procedures. (Khoury v. Maly's of California, Inc. (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 612, 616.) 

A motion to strike lies either when (1) there is “irrelevant, false or improper matter inserted in any 

pleading”; or (2) to strike any pleading or part thereof “not drawn or filed in conformity with the laws 

of this state, a court rule or order of court.” (CCP §436.) 

Discussion 

First and Third C/A: Wrongful Death and “Neglect” or a Survivor Action for Negligence 

The elements of a cause of action for wrongful death are the tort (negligence or other wrongful act), 

the resulting death, and the damages, consisting of the pecuniary loss suffered by the heirs. (CCP 

§377.60; Quiroz v. Seventh Ave. Center (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 1256, 1263.) Plaintiff alleges that 

Defendant ignored precipitous weight loss Decedent lost more than 80 pounds in six months, became 

malnourished, dehydrated and developed metastatic cancer which could not be treated once it was 

discovered. These allegations are sufficient to support a cause of action sounding in negligence.  

In her reply, Defendant argues Plaintiff failed to allege any facts to demonstrate that she caused the 

Decedent harm. Specifically, Defendant argues that facility personnel should not have been alarmed 

by a weight loss of 6.6 pounds per month for an overweight adult whose family could no longer bring 

him outside food as the result of the lockdown during the pandemic. Defendant further asserts that a 

plaintiff in a failure to diagnose case is required to prove the patient had a greater than 50% chance 

of survival and Plaintiff should be required to plead this.  

The Court disagrees. Decedent’s body habitus and the asserted realities of nursing home care during 

the pandemic are outside the four corners of the complaint. Again, Plaintiff has alleged that 

Defendants ignored “precipitous weight loss [which] was a red flag of serious illness.” (FAC ¶16.) 

As for the asserted failure to plead causation, Plaintiff has alleged that the Decedent died from a 

cancerous mass that had spread throughout his abdomen an into his throat, that his condition was 

“too far gone to be treated” once discovered, and a reasonable conclusion is this was due to 
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Defendants’ delay in evaluating and treating the condition. Plaintiff alleges that Defendants, including 

Nguyen-Traxler, failed evaluate the Decedent's condition and as a result, he passed away. (¶¶ 16-19, 

21, 34, 36, 38, 39, 54, 56.) Given that causation is a question of fact, the demurrer is overruled. 

Second C/A for Elder Abuse  

The demurrer to the elder abuse cause of action is sustained with leave to amend for failure to state 

facts sufficient to state a cause of action. 

Abuse of an elder under the Elder Abuse and Dependent Adult Civil Protection Act is defined as 

"[p]hysical abuse, neglect, financial abuse, abandonment, isolation, abduction, or other treatment 

with resulting physical harm or pain and mental suffering." (Welf. & Inst. Code § 15610.07(a).) 

Neglect under the Act is not negligence in the undertaking of medical services, but rather concerns 

the fundamental failure to provide custodial care. (Delaney v. Baker (1999) 20 Cal.4th 23, 34.) 

Neglect includes only "acts of egregious abuse." (Id. at 35.) Neglect under the Act includes the 

"negligent failure of any person having the care or custody of an elder or dependent adult to exercise 

that degree of care that a reasonable person in a like position would exercise" and the "failure to 

protect from health and safety hazards." (Welf. & Inst. Code § 15610.57.) The high standard imposed 

by W&I § 15657 protects health care providers from liability under the statute “for acts of simple or 

even gross negligence.” (Covenant Care, Inc. v. Superior Court (2004) 32 Cal.4th 771, 785.) "The Elder 

Abuse Act's heightened remedies are available only in limited circumstances. A plaintiff must prove, 

by clear and convincing evidence, that a defendant is liable for either physical abuse under section 

15610.63 or neglect under section 15610.57, and that the defendant committed the abuse with 

'recklessness, oppression, fraud, or malice.' (§ 15657.)" (Winn v. Pioneer Medical Group, Inc. (2016) 

63 Cal. 4th 148, 156.) 

Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s allegations are impermissibly conclusory and fail to demonstrate 

recklessness, oppression, fraud or malice. The Court agrees. 

The allegations are summarized in the introductory paragraphs above. Plaintiffs allege the Decedent 

was admitted to Bayberry Nursing in December 2013 and in his last six months at the facility had lost 

a lot of weight. Plaintiff alleges the Defendants delayed providing medical treatment despite 

knowledge of Decedent’s weight loss, failed to respond to an outside physician’s inquiries regarding a 

medical visit with the Decedent, and ignored the family’s requests to investigate the cause of the 

Decedent’s weight loss. Within the body of this cause of action, Plaintiff does not add any detail and 

simply adds conclusory allegations tracking the relevant statutes. 

The current allegations do not set forth a claim for dependent elder abuse. As currently pled, the 

allegations indicate the Decedent lost weight at Bayberry Nursing and that “Defendants” delayed 

providing medical treatment despite knowing of this and ignored complaints. Plaintiff simply lumped 

together all “Defendants,” alleged the Decedent lost weight and “Defendants” knew this was an 

indicator of serious illness and delayed providing medical evaluation and treatment. Plaintiffs have 

not set forth any specific conduct by Defendants which would constitute abuse of a dependent elder 
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as defined in the Act. The allegations fail to “point out exactly how or in what manner the [defendant 

has] transgressed.” (Carter v. Prime Healthcare Paradise Valley, LLC (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 396, 410.)  

In Carter, the allegations were held to be insufficient to state an elder abuse cause of action. (Id.) 

Carter stated, in addressing whether allegations were sufficient against a hospital, as opposed to the 

skilled nursing facility, that there was some conduct that was “arguably sufficiently egregious to 

constitute elder abuse—abandoning and isolating Grant in the shower; not drying him after bathing; 

not providing sufficient fluids for proper hydration; and not treating the pressure ulcers on his lower 

back and buttocks, resulting in sepsis—are attributable exclusively to the Center. Allegations of 

misconduct directed against one defendant, however, do not state a cause of action against whom 

the allegations of misconduct are not directed.” (Id. at 409-410.) Carter then stated that the 

allegations that the hospital failed to treat pressure ulcers, administer antibiotics, falsified 

documentation and purposefully inadequate testing for medications were not sufficient and that 

simply adding the terms “recklessly” or “fraudulently” were insufficiently conclusory and the use of 

such terminology as “fraudulently” and “recklessly” cannot cure failure to point out exactly how or in 

what manner the defendant transgressed. (Id. at 410.)  

Here, the allegations are less specific than the deficient allegations in Carter. “Pleading in the 

language of statute is acceptable provided that sufficient facts are pleaded to support the 

allegations.” (Blegen v. Superior Court (1981) 125 Cal.App.3d 959, 963.) Here, the facts are lacking. 

Thus, the demurrer is sustained on the basis that Plaintiff’s allegations are insufficient to demonstrate 

abuse under the Act much less that Defendants acted with recklessness, oppression, fraud or malice.  

Plaintiff cites to Fenimore v. Regents of University of California (2016) 245 Cal App. 4th 1339 as a case 

that supports her elder abuse cause of action. In Fenimore, the plaintiff alleged the hospital had 

allowed him to fall within minutes of admission, failed to treat his fractured hip for four days, and 

violated certain state regulations by understaffing. The court noted that the first two allegations 

alone probably did not amount to elder abuse under the relevant statute. However, allegations of a 

pattern and knowing practice of understaffing to cut costs could amount to reckless neglect: 

The FAC supplied allegations that may show recklessness. It alleged the Hospital had a pattern 

and knowing practice of improperly understaffing to cut costs, and had the Hospital been 

staffed sufficiently, George would have been properly supervised and would not have 

suffered injury. On a demurrer, we must accept the allegations as true and express no opinion 

on whether the Fenimores can ultimately prove these allegations. We must assume the 

Fenimores can prove by clear and convincing evidence that the Hospital was understaffed at 

the time George fell, that this understaffing caused George to fall or otherwise harmed him, 

and that this understaffing was part of a pattern and practice. If they do so, we cannot say as 

a matter of law that the Hospital should escape liability for reckless neglect. The trier of fact 

should decide whether a knowing pattern and practice of understaffing in violation of 

applicable regulations amounts to recklessness. 
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Fenimore also distinguished Worsham v. O'Connor Hospital (2014) 226 Cal. App. 4th 331, because the 

plaintiff there alleged understaffing and undertraining, but had not supported the allegations with 

specific facts. "But the Fenimores have alleged more than a simple understaffing here. The FAC 

identified the staffing regulation the Hospital allegedly violated and suggested a knowing pattern of 

violating it constituted recklessness. A jury may see knowingly flouting staffing regulations as part of 

a pattern and practice to cut costs, thereby endangering the facility's elderly and dependent patients, 

as qualitatively different than simple negligence." (Fenimore v. Regents of Univ. of California, at 

1350.) 

Accordingly, to allege an elder abuse claim based on a fall due to understaffing and undertraining a 

plaintiff is required to allege specific facts and the specific regulations that were violated along with 

allegations of a pattern and practice of such violations. Plaintiff has not done so.  

Uncertainty Arguments 

To the extent Defendant demurs based on uncertainty, the demurrer is overruled. Demurrers for 

uncertainty are disfavored and only sustained where the pleading is so muddled that the defendant 

cannot reasonably respond. The favored approach is to clarify any uncertainty or ambiguity through 

discovery. (Khoury, supra, 14 Cal.App.4th at 616.) Defendant argues in her reply “this is a case for 

professional negligence [and] wrongful death arising of the alleged delay in diagnosis and treatment 

of cancer. However, this has not been alleged because plaintiff is straining to manufacture a claim for 

enhanced remedies and punitive damages under the Elder Abuse and Adult Civil Protection Act.” 

(Reply, 2:3-6.) Plaintiff’s claims are not so uncertain as to make the pleading unintelligible. To the 

extent there is any uncertainty, it can be clarified in discovery. 

Motion to Strike 

In light of the Court’s ruling on the demurrer to elder abuse cause of action, Defendant’s motion to 

strike the prayer for punitive damages and for attorney fees under Welfare and Institutions Code 

section 15657 is granted, with leave to amend. 

Please Note: Dr. Nguyen-Traxler is represented by two law firms and filed two separate demurrers 

and motions to strike. Page limitations apply no matter how many firms represent Dr. Nguyen-

Traxler. Dr. Nguyen-Traxler shall adhere to page limitations going forward. 
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15. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC22-00100 
CASE NAME:  RIDEAU  VS.  GHC OF CONTRA COSTA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE PORTIONS OF 1st Amended COMPLAINT  
FILED BY:  ANN NGUYEN-TRAXLER, MD 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
The Demurrer of Defendants CHC of Contra Costa LLC, Life Generations Healthcare, and Ann Nguyen-

Traxler, M.D., in her capacity as Medical Director, to the First Amended Complaint of Plaintiff Dwayne 

Rideau, by and through his successor-in-interest Marlene Rideau, and Marlene Rideau, individually, is 

overruled in part and sustained in part with leave to amend. The companion Motion to Strike 

is granted with leave to amend.  

Plaintiff shall have 30 days from the date of this order in which to amend her complaint. Defendants 
shall have 30 days from service of the amended complaint in which to respond.  

Allegations of the First Amended Complaint 

This case arises out of injuries allegedly suffered by Dwayne Rideau ("Decedent") at Bayberry Skilled 

Nursing and Healthcare Center (“Bayberry Nursing”), a licensed skilled nursing facility. Plaintiff 

Marlene Rideau is the Decedent’s successor in interest. Defendants are CHC of Contra Costa LLC, Life 

Generations Healthcare and Ann Nguyen-Traxler, M.D.  

 Plaintiff alleges that Decedent was over the age of 65 at the time of the events in the operative First 

Amended Complaint and was admitted to Bayberry Nursing in 2013 after suffering a stroke. Plaintiffs 

allege that from January 4, 2019 through January 14, 2021, Decedent became malnourished, 

dehydrated, and developed a tumor in his abdomen that spread throughout his abdomen and into his 

throat. During this time a specialist physician repeatedly contacted Bayberry Nursing to arrange and 

office visit or telemedicine consultation for Decedent, but Defendants allegedly never responded to 

the physician. At a care meeting in September 2020, Decedent’s family learned that Decedent had 

lost 40 pounds since March 2020. When Decedent’s family asked the facility’s representative about 

the weight loss, the representative stated that Decedent was depressed due to restrictions on family 

visits that were in place at that time. Family could see through the window of Decedent’s room that 

Decedent was doing poorly and made continued requests to Bayberry Nursing to have doctors 

evaluate Decedent to determine the medical cause of his weight loss. No one allegedly evaluated 

Decedent and the cause of his weight loss was not diagnosed.  

In early January 2021 Dr. Nguyen-Traxler called to tell Plaintiff that Decedent was not doing well. 

By this time, Decedent could no longer talk and was too weak to lift his arms. The following day, 

Decedent was taken to the hospital emergency department where he was found to be malnourished 

and severely dehydrated, and a cancerous mass was detected in his abdomen. Family observed that 
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Decedent’s finger and toenails had grown so long “they looked like talons and were curled over.” 

The family learned that Decedent’s cancer had spread throughout his abdomen and into his throat. 

Plaintiff alleges the decedent’s condition “was too far gone to be treated and therefore hospice care 

was initiated.” Decedent passed away shortly thereafter on January 14, 2021. Plaintiff alleges that 

throughout Decedent’s stay at Bayberry Nursing, Defendants knew the facility was chronically 

understaffed and could not meet the care needs of its residents. Plaintiff alleges the corporate 

defendants, and their managing agents did not adjust staffing levels in order to maximize profit. 

Plaintiff alleges that during Decedent’s stay, Bayberry Nursing lacked competent staff to assess, 

monitor and treat its residents, which is how Decedent was allowed to lose a total of 80 pounds in six 

months, become malnourished and dehydrated, and develop a terminal abdominal tumor without 

appropriate intervention to diagnose or treat this sudden illness. (FAC, ¶¶ 15-21.)  

Plaintiff asserts causes of action for (1) wrongful death; (2) elder abuse; (3) violation of the Patient Bill 

of Rights; and (4) “neglect.” (Plaintiff clarifies in opposition to the motion that this is a cause of action 

for negligence for the recovery of damages for pain and suffering by a decedent’s successor in 

interest, by way of a survival action, following the death of the decedent, pursuant to AB 447, which 

amended CCP section 377.34.) 

Defendants now demur to the first through third causes of action for failure to state a cause of action, 

and to the fourth cause of action on grounds of uncertainty. Defendants also move to strike punitive 

damages allegations and the prayer for attorney fees. 

Legal Standards 

“It is black letter law that a demurrer tests the legal sufficiency of the allegations in a complaint.” 

(Lewis v. Safeway, Inc. (2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 385, 388.) Therefore, it lies only where the defects 

appear on the face of the pleading or are judicially noticed. (SKF Farms v. Superior Court (1984) 153 

Cal.App.3d 902, 905.) In ruling on a demurrer, the court must “liberally construe” the allegations of 

the complaint. (CCP § 452.)  

Demurrers for uncertainty are disfavored. A demurrer for uncertainty is strictly construed, even 

where a complaint is in some respects uncertain, because ambiguities can be clarified under modern 

discovery procedures. (Khoury v. Maly's of California, Inc. (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 612, 616.) 

A motion to strike lies either when (1) there is “irrelevant, false or improper matter inserted in any 

pleading”; or (2) to strike any pleading or part thereof “not drawn or filed in conformity with the laws 

of this state, a court rule or order of court.” (CCP §436.) 

Analysis of Demurrer 

First C/A for Wrongful Death  

The elements of the cause of action for wrongful death are (1) the tort (negligence or other wrongful 

act), (2) the resulting death, and (3) the damages, consisting of the pecuniary loss suffered only by 
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those persons who, because of their relation to the deceased, are presumed to be injured by his or 

her death, not by persons who are not in the chain of intestate succession. (Quiroz v. Seventh Ave. 

Center (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 1256, 1263–1264.) 

According to Defendants, Health and Safety Code section 103550 makes “any death record prima 

facie evidence in all courts and places of the facts stated therein” and a death certificate’s 

determination of cause of death “creates a rebuttable presumption,” and here, the death certificate 

attached to Marlene Rideau’s declaration of successor in interest required by CCP section 377.32(a) 

states the immediate cause of Decedent’s death was liver cirrhosis with an underlying condition of 

Hepatitis C. Defendants argue there no facts in the FAC to overcome the presumption of Decedent’s 

cause of death as stated in the death certificate.  

The demurrer based on this argument is overruled. The Court does not take judicial notice of 

the death certificate attached to the successor-in-interest declaration. Even if the Court were to 

take judicial notice of the existence of the death certificate as part of the records of the court, it could 

not take judicial notice of the truth of the facts stated in the death certificate itself for purposes of 

ruling on the demurrer.  

Further, while Defendants may be correct that a death record creates a rebuttable presumption 

regarding the cause of death, they do not cite any legal authority which establishes that wrongful 

death plaintiffs must allege facts sufficient to overcome any presumption regarding the cause of 

death, or that the failure to do so renders the pleading deficient. Further, a death certificate 

constitutes only prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein, but that it is “subject to rebuttal and 

to explanation.” (Morris v. Noguchi (1983) 141 Cal.App.3d 520, 523, fn. 1.) More to the point, whether 

acts or omissions of Defendants caused or contributed to the Decedent’s death–or whether the death 

was instead the result of the natural progression of his underlying medical condition and 

comorbidities–is a fact issue that cannot be resolved on demurrer.  

Second C/A for Elder Abuse 

The demurrer to the elder abuse cause of action is sustained with leave to amend for failure to state 

facts sufficient to state a cause of action. 

Abuse of an elder under the Elder Abuse and Dependent Adult Civil Protection Act is defined as 

"[p]hysical abuse, neglect, financial abuse, abandonment, isolation, abduction, or other treatment 

with resulting physical harm or pain and mental suffering." (Welf. & Inst. Code § 15610.07(a).) Neglect 

under the Act is not negligence in the undertaking of medical services, but rather concerns the 

fundamental failure to provide custodial care. (Delaney v. Baker (1999) 20 Cal.4th 23, 34.) Neglect 

includes only "acts of egregious abuse." (Id. at 35.) Neglect under the Act includes the "negligent 

failure of any person having the care or custody of an elder or dependent adult to exercise that 

degree of care that a reasonable person in a like position would exercise" and the "failure to protect 

from health and safety hazards." (Welf. & Inst. Code § 15610.57.) The high standard imposed by W&I 

§ 15657 protects health care providers from liability under the statute “for acts of simple or even 



SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
MARTINEZ, CA 

DEPARTMENT 18 
JUDICIAL OFFICER: DANIELLE K DOUGLAS 

HEARING DATE:  03/06/2023 
 

 

31 

 

gross negligence.” (Covenant Care, Inc. v. Superior Court (2004) 32 Cal.4th 771, 785.) "The Elder Abuse 

Act's heightened remedies are available only in limited circumstances. A plaintiff must prove, by clear 

and convincing evidence, that a defendant is liable for either physical abuse under section 15610.63 

or neglect under section 15610.57, and that the defendant committed the abuse with 'recklessness, 

oppression, fraud, or malice.' (§ 15657.)" (Winn v. Pioneer Medical Group, Inc. (2016) 63 Cal. 4th 148, 

156.)  

Defendants argue that Plaintiffs' allegations are impermissibly conclusory and fail to demonstrate 

recklessness, oppression, fraud or malice. The Court agrees. 

The allegations are summarized in the introductory paragraphs above. Plaintiffs allege the Decedent 

was admitted to Bayberry Nursing in December 2013 and in his last six months at the facility had lost 

a lot of weight. Plaintiff alleges the Defendants delayed providing medical treatment despite 

knowledge of Decedent’s weight loss, failed to respond to an outside physician’s inquiries regarding a 

medical visit with the Decedent, and ignored the family’s requests to investigate the cause of the 

Decedent’s weight loss. Within the body of this cause of action, Plaintiff does not add any detail and 

simply adds conclusory allegations tracking the relevant statutes. 

The current allegations do not set forth a claim for dependent elder abuse. As currently pled, the 

allegations indicate the Decedent lost weight at Bayberry Nursing and that “Defendants” delayed 

providing medical treatment despite knowing of this and ignored complaints. Plaintiff simply lumped 

together all “Defendants,” alleged the Decedent lost weight and “Defendants” knew this was an 

indicator of serious illness and delayed providing medical evaluation and treatment during the 

pandemic. Plaintiffs have not set forth any specific conduct by Defendants which would constitute 

abuse of a dependent elder as defined in the Act. Contrary to the arguments by Plaintiffs, these 

allegations are insufficient. The allegations fail to “point out exactly how or in what manner the 

[defendant has] transgressed.” (Carter v. Prime Healthcare Paradise Valley, LLC (2011) 198 

Cal.App.4th 396, 410.)  

In Carter, the allegations were held to be insufficient to state an elder abuse cause of action. (Id.) 

Carter stated, in addressing whether allegations were sufficient against a hospital, as opposed to the 

skilled nursing facility, that there was some conduct that was “arguably sufficiently egregious to 

constitute elder abuse—abandoning and isolating Grant in the shower; not drying him after bathing; 

not providing sufficient fluids for proper hydration; and not treating the pressure ulcers on his lower 

back and buttocks, resulting in sepsis—are attributable exclusively to the Center. Allegations of 

misconduct directed against one defendant, however, do not state a cause of action against whom 

the allegations of misconduct are not directed.” (Id. at 409-410.) Carter then stated that the 

allegations that the hospital failed to treat pressure ulcers, administer antibiotics, falsified 

documentation and purposefully inadequate testing for medications were not sufficient and that 

simply adding the terms “recklessly” or “fraudulently” were insufficiently conclusory and the use of 

such terminology as “fraudulently” and “recklessly” cannot cure failure to point out exactly how or in 
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what manner the defendant transgressed. (Id. at 410.)  

Here, the allegations are less specific than the deficient allegations in Carter. “Pleading in the 

language of statute is acceptable provided that sufficient facts are pleaded to support the 

allegations.” (Blegen v. Superior Court (1981) 125 Cal.App.3d 959, 963.) Here, the facts are lacking. 

Thus, the demurrer is sustained on the basis that Plaintiff’s allegations are insufficient to demonstrate 

abuse under the Act much less that Defendants acted with recklessness, oppression, fraud or malice. 

Plaintiff cites to Fenimore v. Regents of University of California (2016) 245 Cal App. 4th 1339 as a case 

that supports her. In Fenimore, the plaintiff alleged the hospital had allowed him to fall within 

minutes of admission, failed to treat his fractured hip for four days, and violated certain state 

regulations by understaffing. The court noted that the first two allegations alone probably did not 

amount to elder abuse under the relevant statute. However, allegations of a pattern and knowing 

practice of understaffing to cut costs could amount to reckless neglect: 

The FAC supplied allegations that may show recklessness. It alleged the Hospital had a pattern 

and knowing practice of improperly understaffing to cut costs, and had the Hospital been 

staffed sufficiently, George would have been properly supervised and would not have 

suffered injury. On a demurrer, we must accept the allegations as true and express no opinion 

on whether the Fenimore’s can ultimately prove these allegations. We must assume the 

Fenimores can prove by clear and convincing evidence that the Hospital was understaffed at 

the time George fell, that this understaffing caused George to fall or otherwise harmed him, 

and that this understaffing was part of a pattern and practice. If they do so, we cannot say as 

a matter of law that the Hospital should escape liability for reckless neglect. The trier of fact 

should decide whether a knowing pattern and practice of understaffing in violation of 

applicable regulations amounts to recklessness. 

Fenimore also distinguished Worsham v. O'Connor Hospital (2014) 226 Cal. App. 4th 331, because the 

plaintiff there alleged understaffing and undertraining, but had not supported the allegations with 

specific facts. "But the Fenimore’s have alleged more than a simple understaffing here. The FAC 

identified the staffing regulation the Hospital allegedly violated and suggested a knowing pattern of 

violating it constituted recklessness. A jury may see knowingly flouting staffing regulations as part of a 

pattern and practice to cut costs, thereby endangering the facility's elderly and dependent patients, 

as qualitatively different than simple negligence." (Fenimore v. Regents of Univ. of California, at 

1350.) 

Accordingly, to allege an elder abuse claim based on a fall due to understaffing and undertraining a 

plaintiff is required to allege specific facts and the specific regulations that were violated along with 

allegations of a pattern and practice of such violations. Plaintiff has not done so. 

Third C/A for Violation of Patient’s Bill of Rights  

“Health and Safety Code section 1430, subdivision (b) . . . allows a current or former resident or 
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patient to sue the licensee of a facility that Violates any rights’ set forth in the Patient’s Bill of Rights . 

. . The licensee is liable for up to $500, and for costs and attorney fees, and the violation may be 

enjoined.” (Nevarez v. San Marino Skilled Nursing & Wellness Centre, LLC (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 102, 

128-129.)  

Defendants argue the PBOR cause of action is moot because they paid $500 to Plaintiff, and this is the 

exclusive remedy for this cause of action. Defendants also argue the cause of action fails because 

Plaintiff does not plead that Defendants violated any of the rights enumerated in 22 CFR 72527.  

The Court is bound by the pleadings on demurrer and the claimed $500 payment does not appear on 

the face of the FAC or any judicially noticeable matter. The allegations of elder abuse are sufficient to 

maintain a cause of action for violation of the PBOR. Further, even if Defendants paid the penalty, the 

PBOR authorizes attorney fees incurred up to the point of payment (as Defendants acknowledge) and 

Plaintiff seeks to recover fees on this claim.  

The demurrer to the Patient’s Bill of Rights cause of action is likewise sustained leave to amend for 

Plaintiff to plead facts to support that defendants violated of one or more of the rights in section 

72527 of Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations. 

Fourth C/A for Neglect  

A claim for negligence has three necessary elements: (1) negligence; (2) harm; and (3) causation. 

Defendants’ demurrer to the third cause of action is overruled. As set forth above, Plaintiff has 

adequately alleged facts to support the elements of a negligence cause of action.  

Demurrer for Uncertainty 

To the extent that Defendants demurs based on uncertainty, the demurrer is overruled. Demurrers 

for uncertainty are disfavored and only sustained where the pleading is so muddled that the 

defendant cannot reasonably respond. The favored approach is to clarify any uncertainty or 

ambiguity through discovery. (Khoury, supra, 14 Cal.App.4th at 616.) Plaintiff’s claims are not so 

uncertain that Defendants cannot respond. To the extent there is any genuine uncertainty, it can be 

clarified in discovery. 

Motion to Strike 

In light of the Court’s ruling on the demurrer to elder abuse cause of action, Defendants’ motion to 

strike the prayer for punitive damages and for attorney fees under Welfare and Institutions Code 

section 15657 is granted, with leave to amend. 
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16. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC22-00119 
CASE NAME:  CLARK  VS.  MANDOLINI 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND COMPLAINT  
FILED BY:  TIFFANEY CLARK 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Plaintiff’s leave to amend is granted conditioned on the Court receiving proof that Defendant’s were 
served with the motion and date of hearing.  If such proof is provided to the Court by March 6, 2023, 
no later that 9 am., the Court will grant the motion. 

  
 

  

    

17. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC22-00125 
CASE NAME:  AGAPITO  VS.  NACELLI 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON PLEADINGS  
FILED BY:  DEFENDANT  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Before the Court is Defendant Elizabeth Monsanto’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings as to 

Verified First Amended Complaint (”FAC”). The FAC alleges seven causes of action, only one of which 

is alleged against Defendant Elizabeth Monsanto. Specifically, the third cause of action for tortious 

interference with contractual relations.  

Despite the fact that the FAC only alleges a single cause of action as to Defendant Monsanto, she 

purports to move for judgment on the pleadings as to the whole complaint. (Notice at ¶1.) Notably, 

the Notice does not indicate that Defendant Monsanto is moving as to the single cause of action to 

which she is a party.  

Legal Standard  

The standard for granting a motion for judgment on the pleadings is essentially the same as that 
applicable to a general demurrer. (Burnett v. Chimney Sweep (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 1057, 1064.) As a 
consequence, it may be granted if, from the pleadings, together with matters that may be judicially 
noticed, it appears that a party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (Code Civ. Proc. § 438(d); 
Saltarelli & Steponovich v. Douglas (1995) 40 Cal.App.4th 1, 5; Weil & Brown, Civ. Pro. Before Trial 
(The Rutter Group 2010) p. 7:292.) As such, a motion for judgment on the pleadings involves the same 
type of procedures that apply to a general demurrer. (Richardson-Tunnell v. School Ins. Program for 
Employees (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 1056, 1061; Burnett, supra, 123 Cal.App.4th at p. 1064.) In 
considering a motion for judgment on the pleadings, courts consider whether the factual allegations, 
assumed true, are sufficient to constitute a cause of action. (Fire Ins. Exchange v. Sup. Ct. (2004) 116 
Cal.App.4th 446, 452-453.) Also, like a demurrer, a motion for judgment on the pleadings does not lie 
as to only part of a cause of action. (Id. at p. 452; Weil & Brown, Cal. Practice Guide: Civ. Pro. Before 
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Trial (The Rutter Group 2008) p. 7:295.)  

Factual Allegations  

Plaintiffs allege that they met with Defendant Joseph Nacelli on or about July 1, 2009, to discuss their 

desire to purchase real property located at 761 Mariposa Ave. in Rodeo, California (“Property”). (FAC 

¶10.) As Plaintiffs did not qualify for a mortgage, they wanted to have Defendant Nacelli hold title to 

the Property in trust for them. (¶11.) In return, they would allow him to live in Plaintiffs’ residence 

rent free, would pay all costs related to the Property, and would rent out the Property. (Ibid.) 

Defendant Nacelli agreed to these terms. (¶12.) Accordingly, Plaintiffs paid into escrow the down 

payment for the Property. (¶13.)  

Since that time, Plaintiffs allege they lived up to their part of the agreement. (¶¶ 14-20.) However, 

in December 2021, Defendant Nacelli sold the Property without Plaintiffs’ permission to Defendant 

Paclebar. (¶ 21.)  

As to the claim against Defendant Monsanto, Plaintiffs allege that she (as well as Defendants Jenalyn 

Cooper and Jane Nacelli) knew that Joseph Nacelli had agreed to hold the Property in trust for 

Plaintiffs. (¶28.) Notwithstanding this knowledge, Ms. Monsanto allegedly interfered with Plaintiffs’ 

agreement with Joseph Nacelli and encouraged and facilitated his transfer of the Property to Paclebar 

without notifying Plaintiffs. (¶29.) These actions are alleged to have been intended to prevent and/or 

disrupt the performance of Joseph Nacelli’s agreement to hold the Property in trust for Plaintiffs. 

(¶30.)  

Analysis 

Scope of Motion 

To begin with, the Notice of Motion (“Notice”) and Motion are explicitly brought solely on behalf of 

Defendant Monsanto. The caption for both the Notice and Motion indicate they are for the motion of 

“Elizabeth Monsanto.” In addition, the Notice specifically states that “Defendant Elizabeth Monsanto 

shall move for judgment on the pleadings…”  

Confusingly, despite the above, the Motion says it is brought on the single “following ground: 1. 

The complaint does not state facts sufficient to constitute anhy (sic) cause of action against 

defendants Elizabeth Monsanto, Joseph Nacelli, Jane Nacelli, or Jenalyn Cooper.” This is followed by 

the statement that “Defendant’s motion” – indicating a single Defendant – “shall be based on the 

accompanying Memorandum of Points and Authorities, all related pleadings and exhibits, the record 

before this Court, and oral argument as may be presented at the hearing.”  

Given the above, the Court is interpreting the Motion to be (1) brought solely by Defendant 

Monsanto, and (2) to be directed solely at the third cause of action – which is the only cause of action 

alleged against Ms. Monsanto.  



SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
MARTINEZ, CA 

DEPARTMENT 18 
JUDICIAL OFFICER: DANIELLE K DOUGLAS 

HEARING DATE:  03/06/2023 
 

 

36 

 

Meet and Confer 

Defendant filed her Motion on June 13, 2022. At that time, Defendant’s counsel did not file a 

declaration in support that complies with CCP section 439, which requires that a party moving for 

judgment on the pleadings must meet and confer with the party who filed the pleading at issue at 

least five days before the date the motion is filed. (CCP § 439 (a)(2).) Belatedly, however, on June 22, 

2022, Defendant’s counsel filed such a declaration indicating that such a meet and confer did take 

place at least five days before he filed the motion.  

Plaintiffs’ opposition, filed on January 19, 2023, contends that the Motion should be denied for failure 

to properly meet and confer as “there is no declaration” describing the meet and confer. (Opp. at 3:9-

10.) Plaintiffs’ counsel does not appear to be disputing that the Parties met and conferred, but merely 

that Defendant’s counsel did not file a declaration indicating that the meet and confer occurred. 

As noted above, such a declaration was filed – although not at the same time as the Motion.  

Given the above, the Court rejects the request to deny the Motion for failure to meet and confer.  

Tortious Interference with Contractual Relations 

Defendant’s complete argument relating to the third cause of action is as follows: 

“The third cause of action for contractual interference fails because there is no 

writing.” (Motion at 3:19.) 

Defendant does not, however, explain what this means or cite to any authority supporting this 

position. Defendant appears to connect this argument back to her initial argument relating to the 

statue of frauds. The argument appears to be that since the underlying agreement related to the 

purchase of real estate, the statue of frauds applies. As there is no writing alleged to relate to this 

initial agreement regarding the purchase of the Property – and each of the other causes of action 

relate to this agreement – each of the causes of action (including for interference with contractual 

relations) fail.  

There are a number of problems with this argument. The first of which is that the alleged agreement 

between Plaintiffs and Defendant Joseph Nacelli was not for the purchase of real property. The 

Complaint appears to allege that Defendant Joseph Nacelli purchased the Property, and Plaintiffs had 

an agreement wherein he would hold the Property in his name for the benefit of Plaintiffs. In return, 

Defendant Joseph Nacelli would receive free room and board. Thus, it does not appear that the 

statute of frauds applies. At least, Defendant has failed to explain how it applies.  

Based on the above, Defendant’s Motion is denied. 
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18. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC22-00159 
CASE NAME:  ALFARO-GAMERO  VS.  RUIZ 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR INTERLOCUTORY JUDGMENT AND APPOINTMENT OF REFEREE  
FILED BY:  TATIANA ALFARO-GAMERO 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
The hearing is continued to April 17, 2023, for Plaintiff to effectuate proper service of the motion. 

  
 

  

    

19. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC22-00188 
CASE NAME:  PERUMAL  VS.  MAYARI DEVELOPMENT 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL  
FILED BY:  (Counsel For) DEFENDANTS 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
The motion to be relieved as counsel is granted. 

  
 

  

    

20. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC22-00188 
CASE NAME:  PERUMAL  VS.  MAYARI DEVELOPMENT 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM STAY PENDING ARBITRATION  
FILED BY:  SHIAMALEE PERUMAL 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Before the Court is Plaintiff’s Motion for Relief from Stay Pending Arbitration (“Motion”).  

Appearances required.  

Procedural Background 

This matter relates to a lawsuit brought by Plaintiffs Shiamalle Perumal and Shyam Sunter concerning 

alleged defects in a house they purchased in 2018. Plaintiffs’ Complaint alleges a single cause of 

action (with 18 subparts) against all Defendants, namely violation of standards for residential 

construction in violation of Civil Code §§ 896 and 897. 

On February 22, 2022, Plaintiffs filed their Complaint for Damages (“Complaint”) against Defendants 

Mayari Development, LLC (“Mayari”), Henry Ortiz, Jr., Margarita Veronica Blanco, as an individual and 

trustee of the Margarita Veronica Blanco-Ortiz Trust (“Ms. Blanco”), and Mayari Castro. Defendant 

Mayari Castro was dismissed from the case on March 24, 2022. Default was entered against 

Defendant Ortiz on April 14, 2022. In September 2022, Defendant Ortiz filed a motion to set aside 

default. That unopposed motion was granted on October 31, 2022. As such, Mayari Development, 
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Ms. Blanco, and Mr. Ortiz are the only remaining Defendants. 

In March 2022, Defendants Mayari and Blanco filed a motion to compel arbitration, based on the 

arbitration clause set forth in the purchase contract for the house. On May 18, 2022, the Court 

granted the motion to compel, and stayed the proceedings pending the outcome of the arbitration.  

Thereafter, the Parties (excluding Mr. Ortiz – who was not party to the arbitration order) agreed to 

proceed with arbitration with arbitrator Melissa Blair Aliotti of Judicate West. Arbitration was 

scheduled to commence on January 17, 2023. However, on December 14, 2022, counsel for 

Defendants Mayari and Blanco informed the arbitrator that she had been relieved as counsel. 

As such, Defendants Mayari and Blanco were proceeding ‘pro per.’ As Judicate West has a policy 

allowing the arbitrator to decline to move forward with an arbitration where one or more of the 

parties is not represented by counsel, arbitrator Aliotti cancelled the arbitration.  

Since that time, it is alleged that Defendants Mayari and Blanco have failed to obtain new counsel 

preventing the arbitration from moving forward. Accordingly, Plaintiffs bring the instant motion to lift 

the stay and to reinstate these proceedings.  

Analysis 

California Code of Civil Procedure section 1281.4 provides for a stay of proceedings when an action or 

proceeding “until an arbitration is had in accordance with the order to arbitrate or until such earlier 

time as the court specifies.” (CCP § 1281.4.) If an arbitration is terminated before it has been initiated 

or completed, the Court has the authority to lift the stay and put the matter back on the trial 

calendar. (See e.g. Cinal v. Christopher (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 759, 768-69.)  

Here, Plaintiffs have presented evidence that the Parties agreed to arbitrate this matter using 

Adjudicate West. (Rojas Decl., ¶5.) On August 10, 2022, Plaintiffs submitted a demand for arbitration 

to Judicate West against Defendants Mayari, Blanco, and Ortiz. (Ibid.) Two days later, Mr. Ortiz was 

removed from the demand for arbitration. (Id. ¶7.) Thereafter, the arbitration between Plaintiffs and 

Defendants Mayari and Blanco was scheduled to commence on January 17, 2023. (Id. ¶ 9.)  

On December 14, 2022, a status conference was held with arbitrator Aliotti. (Id. ¶10.) At that status 

conference, counsel for Mayari and Blanco advised the arbitrator that he had been relieved as 

counsel for Defendants, and Mayari and Blanco had waived their right to arbitration. (Ibid.) 

Accordingly, Ms. Aliotti cancelled the arbitration. (Ibid., Ex. E.) To date, Defendants Mayari and Blanco 

are alleged to have made no efforts to obtain new counsel, nor have they requested additional time 

to obtain new counsel to be able to continue the arbitration. Based on the above, Plaintiffs argue that 

Defendants Mayari and Blanco have waived their right to proceed with arbitration. 

“There is no single test for waiver of the right to compel arbitration, but waiver may be found where 

the party seeking arbitration has (1) previously taken steps inconsistent with an intent to invoke 

arbitration, (2) unreasonably delayed in seeking arbitration, or (3) acted in bad faith or with willful 
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misconduct.” (Davis v. Continental Airlines, Inc. (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 205, 211-212 citing Christensen 

v. Dewor Developments (1983) 33 Cal.3d 778, 782.) “A waiver of the right to arbitrate may properly be 

implied from any conduct which is inconsistent with the exercise of that right.” (McConnell v. Merrill 

Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc. (1980) 105 Cal.App.3d 946, 951 citing Maddy v. Castle (1976) 

58 Cal.App.3d 716, 721.)  

Defendants Mayari and Blanco  

Defendants Mayari and Blanco do not oppose the Motion. Nor do they submit any evidence 

contradicting the facts as outlined by Plaintiffs. As such, it appears that they concede they have 

waived their right to arbitration by relieving counsel and failing to retain new counsel to represent 

them in the arbitration. This is despite being specifically informed that the arbitration would not 

proceed unless they were represented by counsel.  

If the stay were to remain, it would prevent Plaintiffs from moving forward with their claims – at least 

until such time as Defendants retain new counsel and the arbitration could proceed. As the record 

indicates that Defendants have made no efforts to do so, Plaintiffs are unduly prejudiced by being 

placed in a ‘legal limbo’ as long as the stay remains in place.  

Given the above, the Court finds that Defendants Mayari and Blanco have waived their right to 

proceed with arbitration.  

Defendant Ortiz 

Defendant Ortiz did file an opposition to the Motion. Mr. Ortiz, however, was not a party to the 

arbitration, nor did the Court’s earlier order compelling arbitration involve Mr. Ortiz – as he was not a 

party to the arbitration agreement and had already had a default entered against him. As Mr. Ortiz 

was not a party to the arbitration (or the underlying arbitration agreement), his opposition is not 

well taken.  

Order  

Based on the above, Plaintiffs’ Motion is granted. The stay previously issued is lifted. This status of 
case will be changed from stayed to active. Plaintiffs indicate they intend to file an amended 
complaint to include additional claims and parties. As a formal motion is not before the Court, it 
cannot rule on such a request. The Parties are ordered to appear to discuss setting a Case 
Management Conference and other relevant dates. 
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21. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC22-00502 
CASE NAME:  GOLDSTEIN  VS.  GUM 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY:  ALEXY GOLDSTEIN 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 

Plaintiff Alexy Goldstein’s motion for leave to file a first amended complaint is granted. 

Plaintiff shall file and serve the proposed first amended complaint no later than March 13, 2023. 

Service on the newly added defendant shall happen promptly. 

There is “a policy of great liberality in permitting amendments to the complaint at any stage 

of the proceedings, up to and including trial [citations]…” (Magpali v. Farmers Group (1996) 48 

Cal.App.4th 471, 487.) However, leave to amend can be denied where there is “ ‘inexcusable delay 

and probable prejudice to the opposing party’… [Citation.]” (Ibid; see also, Kittredge Sports Co. v. 

Superior Court (1989) 213 Cal.App.3d 1045, 1048 (even assuming there is unreasonable delay, “it is an 

abuse of discretion to deny leave to amend where the opposing party was not misled or prejudiced by 

the amendment.”).) Leave to amend can be denied where the proposed amendment is insufficient to 

state a cause of action, however, this rule is most appropriate “in cases in which the insufficiency of 

the proposed amendment is established by controlling precedent and where the insufficiency could 

not be cured by further appropriate amendment.” (Cal. Casualty Gen. Ins. Co. v. Superior Court (1985) 

173 Cal.App.3d 274, 280-281.) 

Plaintiff’s request to correct the APN is not opposed and it is a reasonable request that is 

granted.  

Defendants oppose Plaintiff’s request to add a new defendant to this case.  The new 

defendant is alleged to be a corporation, which is listed as a mobile pet service and has the 

Defendants listed as the officers of the corporation. The complaint alleges that Defendants are 

improperly using their property for dog care and related dog services. The Court finds that the 

request to add the new defendant is proper. Whether or not the allegations against the new 

defendant are sufficient can be determined after the new defendant is added to this case.  

Plaintiff seeks to add a request for fines pursuant to Government Code section 36900. Section 

36900(a) states that “[v]iolation of a city ordinance is a misdemeanor unless by ordinance it is made 

an infraction. The violation of a city ordinance may be prosecuted by city authorities in the name of 

the people of the State of California, or redressed by civil action.” In reply, Plaintiff clarifies that it 

meant to cite to section 25132, which applies to county ordinances, and that the citation to section 

36900 was in error. Defendants oppose this request.  
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Sections 25132 and 36900 clearly allow for a private right of action, but it is unclear if they 

allow the plaintiff to seek the fines listed in those sections. Both sides have provided an insufficient 

legal discussion regarding this issue. The requested fines in the proposed FAC are not obviously 

improper and the Court finds that the best approach is to allow the amendment and then consider 

this issue more fully after the allegations have been added to the complaint. Therefore, Plaintiff is 

given leave to add a request “For fines per Government Code section 25132”. Defendants may file a 

motion to strike, or other appropriate motion, challenging this request.  

 Plaintiff is also seeking to add a request for attorney fees, which Plaintiff claims will be based 

on Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5. Defendants strongly oppose this request, arguing in part 

that Plaintiff has too strong of an interest to be entitled to claim fees under section 1021.5. 

“ ‘There is no requirement that the intent to seek attorney fees under section 1021.5 must be 

pleaded in the underlying action. [Citation.] Such fees are not part of the underlying cause of action, 

but are incidents to the cause and are properly awarded after entry of a … judgment … .’ [Citation.]” 

(Snatchko v. Westfield LLC (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 469, 497.) Still, parties often allege a request for 

attorney fees when such fees might be appropriate. Given the allegations in the complaint it is 

possible that attorney fees under 1021.5 could be awarded in this case and therefore, Plaintiff is given 

leave to amend the complaint to add a request for attorney fees. Whether Plaintiff is entitled to fees 

under 1021.5 is an issue that can be argued by the parties after judgment in the event that Plaintiff 

ultimately prevails in this case. 

 
 

  

    

22.   9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSP18-02044 
CASE NAME:   ESTATE OF YOLA CROCKETT 
HEARING ON MOTION TO SET ASIDE ORDER EXONERATING BOND AND DISCHARGING SURETY  
FILED BY:   STANLEY R. CROCKETT 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
The motion is denied in its entirety. The moving party, Mr. Crockett, is on notice that further motions 
raising the same issues based upon the same facts may lead to sanctions. The Court takes judicial 
notice of the following: 1.) Qualifying Bond of Administrator, Bond Number PHI 27 07507, filed on 
July 1, 2019; and 2.) Final statement of decision and judgment, filed in Case No. C18-00279 on 
August 2, 2021. 

 
 

  


